Bone Mineral Density Determination in Children

Evaluation of a Novel Method and Application to Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy

Ann-Charlott Söderpalm



UNIVERSITY OF GOTHENBURG

Göteborg 2009

Department of Orthopaedics and Department of Pediatrics, Institute of Clinical Sciences at Sahlgrenska Academy, University of Gothenburg, Göteborg, Sweden

Copyright 2009 © Ann-Charlott Söderpalm Department of Orthopaedics and Department of Pediatrics, Institute of Clinical Sciences at Sahlgrenska Academy, University of Gothenburg, Göteborg, Sweden, 2009

The copyright of the original papers belongs to the journal or society which has given permission for reprints in this thesis

Layout by Roland Thomeé Language revision by Jeanette Kliger Illustrations by Annette Dahlström Printed by Intellecta Infolog, Göteborg, Sweden, 2009

ISBN: 978-91-628-7884-9

To My Family

Contents

Abstract	6
List of papers	7
Abbreviations	8
Definitions in brief	9
Preface	.10
Introduction	12
Osteoporosis	12
The bone	14
Skeletal morphogenesis	16
Bone modelling and remodelling	16
Bone mass development during childhood	17
Biochemical markers of bone metabolism	19
Vitamin D	22
Bone mass measurement	22
Measuring children	27
Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophy	27
Glucocorticoid therapy and bone	30
Duchenne muscular dystrophy and bone	30
Aims of the thesis	32
Subjects	33
Ethics	38
Methods	39
Clinical assessments	39
Bone mass measurements	39
Motor function and isometric muscle strength in the lower extremities	42
Biochemical markers of bone metabolism	43
Statistical methods	.45

Results	48
DXL evaluation and paediatric reference data (Study I)	48
Precision studies (Studies I and III)	51
The relationship between calcaneal DXL and whole-body DXA	52
measurements (Study II)	
Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophy studies (Studies III and IV)	55
Characteristics	55
DXL and DXA measurements	56
Bone measurements and motor function	60
Body composition	61
Biochemical markers of bone metabolism	64
Food questionnaire	65
Fractures	65
General discussion	66
Methodological considerations - DXL and DXA	66
Normative data	68
Precision data	69
Correlation between different bone densitometry techniques	70
Physical activity and physical inactivity	71
The muscle and bone unit	73
Other factors influencing bone	74
Biochemical markers of bone metabolism	75
Fractures in children	75
Limitations	77
Future perspective	79
Conclusions	82
Summary in Swedish (sammanfattning på svenska)	84
Acknowledgements	88
References	93
Paper I-IV	107

Abstract

Aims: The overall aims of this thesis were to evaluate the dual-energy X-ray and laser (DXL) method for bone densitometry measurements of the calcaneus in children, to provide reference data for bone mineral density (BMD) in the heel bone in young children and to apply the DXL technique to patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) and conduct a survey about bone health of DMD patients.

Study populations and methods: The DXL Calscan method was modified and adapted for measurements in children and applied to bone densitometry in all subsequent studies. To provide percentile reference data for the DXL measurements, a total of 334 healthy children aged 2, 4 and 7 years were measured (Study I). Measurement data were collected from 112 individuals, aged 2-21 years, to evaluate the relationship between the heel DXL measurements and whole-body dualenergy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) measurements (Study II). In a cross-sectional study, 24 DMD patients, aged 2-20 years, were compared with 24 healthy age- and gender-matched controls with special emphasis on bone mass assessed at different skeletal sites and bone turnover (Study III). In a longitudinal study, 18 DMD patients from Study III and 6 patients with Becker muscular dystrophy (MD) were followed for 4 years with the emphasis on bone mass development, body composition, muscle strength and motor function (Study IV).

Results: The DXL method was readily applied, both in the very young children and in the children with various disabilities. Reference data for BMD were provided as percentile values for children aged 2, 4 and 7. Additional data (a total of 645 DXL Calscan measurements (328 girls/317 boys)) from a follow-up study enabled the presentation of BMD reference curves (mean ± 2 SD) for children (girls and boys respectively) between 2 and 10 years of age. A high correlation was found between the heel DXL measurements and DXA measurements in the hip, in the spine and in the total body. The DXL measurements predicted the lowest DXA-determined BMD values at these sites with high sensitivity (0.9-1.0) and high specificity (0.86-0.95). In the DMD patients, the BMD levels were generally lower compared with the healthy controls. These differences increased with increasing age and were particularly evident in the hip and the heel. Biochemical markers of bone turnover demonstrated reduced bone formation as well as reduced bone resorption in the DMD patients. The fracture rate was no higher in the DMD group compared with the control group, but the fractures were more frequently located in the lower extremities in the patient group. The BMD values were significantly reduced in the DMD patients, even when compared with Becker MD patients. The Becker MD patients, in turn, showed significantly reduced BMD levels compared with healthy controls at most sites. A significant association was found between the changes in lean mass (muscle mass) and bone mass with time and there was also a strong association between BMD measurements and muscle function parameters.

Conclusions: It is feasible to perform DXL bone densitometry measurements of the calcaneus in very young children as well as in children with disabilities. The DXL measurements can predict low BMD values as measured by whole-body DXA. DMD patients had both reduced bone turnover and reduced BMD values compared with healthy controls. The impaired muscle strength and reduced motor function, as observed in the DMD patients, were associated with reduced bone mass during growth. The level of disability appeared to have a major effect on skeletal development, which was, for example, demonstrated as a decrease in hip BMD in the DMD patients with time.

Keywords: adolescents, age- and gender-matched, Becker, bone densitometry, bone markers, bone mineral density, calciotropic hormones, children, DXA, DXL, Duchenne, glucocorticoids, muscular dystrophy, normative, reference values, skeleton

List of papers

This thesis is based on the following papers, referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

- I Söderpalm A-C, Kullenberg R, Albertsson Wikland K, Swolin-Eide D. Pediatric Reference Data for Bone Mineral Density in the Calcaneus for Healthy Children 2, 4 and 7 Years of Age by Dual-Energy X-Ray Absorptiometry and Laser. J Clin Densitom. 2005; 8(3):303-313.
- II Söderpalm A-C, Kullenberg R, Swolin-Eide D. The Relationship Between Dual-Energy X-Ray Absorptiometry (DXA) and DXA With Laser (DXL) Measurements in Children. J Clin Densitom. 2008; 11(4):555-560.
- III Söderpalm A-C, Magnusson P, Åhlander A-C, Karlsson J, Kroksmark A-K, Tulinius M, Swolin-Eide D. Low bone mineral density and decreased bone turnover in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Neuromuscul Disord. 2007; 17(11-12):919-928.
- IV Söderpalm A-C, Magnusson P, Åhlander A-C, Karlsson J, Kroksmark A-K, Tulinius M, Swolin-Eide D. Bone mass in Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophies: A four-year longitudinal study. Submitted, Ms.No.NMD-09-00181, under revision.

Abbreviations

aBMD	Areal bone mineral density (g/cm ²)
ALP	Alkaline phosphatase
AUC	Area under the ROC curve
BA	Bone area (cm ²)
BALP	Bone specific alkaline phosphatase, a bone formation marker
BMAD	Bone mineral apparent density (g/cm ³), in this thesis (mg/cm ³)
BMC	Bone mineral content (g)
BMD	Bone mineral density (g/cm²), equal to aBMD
BMI	Body mass index (kg/m ²)
BMU	Basic multicellular unit of bone remodelling
BUA	Broadband ultrasound attenuation (dB/MHz)
CTX	Carboxy-terminal cross-linking telopeptide of type I collagen
	(cathepsin K generated), a bone resorption marker
CV	Coefficient of variation (%)
DMD	Duchenne muscular dystrophy
DXA	Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry
DXL	Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry and laser
FN	Femoral neck
GC	Glucocorticosteroids
GH	Growth hormone
ICTP	Carboxy-terminal cross-linking telopeptide of type I collagen
	(matrix-metalloprotease generated), a bone resorption marker
IGF-I	Insulin-like growth factor-I
IISD	Intra-individual standard deviation
MES m	Minimum effective strain for modelling
MES r	Minimum effective strain for remodelling
MD	Muscular dystrophy
OC	Osteocalcin, a bone formation marker
PBM	Peak bone mass
PINP	Type I procollagen intact amino-terminal propeptide, a bone
	formation marker
pQCT	Peripheral quantitative computed tomography
PTH	Parathyroid hormone
QCT	Quantitative computed tomography
QUS	Quantitative ultrasound
RDI	Recommended daily intake

ROC	Receiver operating characteristic
ROI	Region of interest
SD	Standard deviation
SEM	Standard error of mean
SOS	Speed of sound (m/s)
TB	Total body
TB _{HE}	Total body, head excluded
TRACP-5b	Tartrate-resistant, acid phosphatase isoform 5b, a bone resorption marker
vBMD	Volumetric bone mineral density (g/cm ³)

Definitions in brief

Accuracy	How close the BMD measured by densitometry is to the actual calcium content of the bone (ash weight)
Precision	Measures the reproducibility of a bone densitometry technique, usually expressed as the coefficient of variation (CV%)
Sensitivity	True positive rate – how well the DXL can truly predict low whole-body DXA values
Specificity	True negative rate – how well the DXL can truly predict whole- body DXA values, which are not regarded as low values
T-score	Refers to SD differences in BMD values measured by DXA in an individual compared with mean values in young women, who have achieved their PBM
Z-score	Refers to age-related reference values

Preface

The word "orthopaedics" originates from the Greek "orthos", which means straight or correct, and "paideia", which means rearing or upbringing, or "pais", which means child. Orthopaedics is therefore often referred to as "the art of correcting and preventing deformities in children".

With a healthy skeleton and normal growth, a child most frequently has straight bones adapted to withstand loads imposed upon them without fracturing. However, already in ancient times different kinds of skeletal deformity were recognized, together with fractures, and over the years scientists have tried to find the causes and the optimal treatment.

Orthopaedics was not organised in more detail until the middle of the 19th century when industrialisation and urbanisation brought many children with disabilities and deformities together in the larger cities. Children with disease such as rickets, tuberculosis, poliomyelitis or congenital deformities were recognized and specific hospitals for children were opened in Central of Europe, Great Britain, Scandinavia and the United States of America ⁴⁹. Knowledge of different skeletal disorders and diseases grew and it was realised that rickets could be cured through sun-light, and the importance of vitamin D was recognised ⁹¹.

Mechanical influences on bone architecture were also discussed during this period by both Hueter and Volkmann, 1862 and Wolff, 1892, but the techniques now available for understanding the modelling or remodelling of bone tissue had not yet been developed.

The advent of radiographic technology in 1895 made it possible to obtain a picture of skeletal density. During the early 20th century, it was believed that trauma produced osteoporosis, since the skeleton appeared less dense on radiograms taken following a fracture ⁴².

During the last few decades, a large-scale increase in fracture incidence, especially in the elderly, has been observed and this has led to an increasing call for the development of techniques for measuring bone mass. Bone mineral density, one of several factors with an important impact on bone strength, is related to the risk of fracture and there is evidence to suggest that the most important time for creating strong bone is during the growth period. This is one reason for monitoring skeletal development in children and adolescents. Chronic diseases or medical treatment could hamper children from developing an optimal skeleton. Moreover, changes in life-style factors, such as physical activity and nutrition among young people today, could possibly have an impact on skeletal development, which would imply an increased risk of fractures later in life. The way to measure bone mass or bone strength, interpret bone measurement data in children and decide when and which children that should be measured are controversial issues.

This thesis presents a novel method for measuring bone mass in the calcaneus in children and its application in patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy, which could serve as a model demonstrating the importance of muscular strength and function for bone formation.

Introduction

Osteoporosis

The term osteoporosis means porous bone and was at first introduced in France in the early 1820s as a description of a pathological state of the bone ¹³⁶. The term initially implied a histological diagnosis, but the definition has been changed over time.

In 1991, osteoporosis was defined as "a disease characterized by low bone mass, microarchitectural deterioration of bone tissue, and a consequent increase in fracture risk" ¹³⁵.

In 1994, the World Health Organisation (WHO) defined osteoporosis in adults as a bone mineral density (BMD) value of 2.5 standard deviations (SD) or more below the peak BMD in young women ⁸². The definition T-score, usually used in adults, refers to SD differences in BMD values measured by dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) in an individual compared with mean values in grown-up young women (Figure 1).

In 2000, osteoporosis was redefined as "a skeletal disorder characterized by compromised bone strength, predisposing to an increased risk of fracture" ¹³⁵, and it was proposed that the risk of fracture and osteoporosis, as reflected by low bone mass, overlaps, but is not identical. This definition points out that not only bone mass but also other factors contribute to bone strength.

In the Utah Paradigm, Frost suggests that physiological osteopenia is present when "reduced bone 'mass' and whole-bone strength properly fit a subject's reduced voluntary physical activities and muscle strength". In pathological osteopenia, also called "true osteoporosis", the bone strength is less than that needed for the daily mechanical use 46 .

It has been shown that osteoporosis indicates a greater fracture risk in adults ⁷⁷ and, during the last few decades, osteoporosis has become a worldwide health problem, with an increasing incidence of fragility fractures. More than 200 million people worldwide are considered to be affected by osteoporosis ⁹³, but the northern parts of Europe in particular are worst hit. The increasing percentage of elderly people in the population appears to be an important reason for this trend, even if recent reports from Finland suggest that the age-

adjusted incidence of hip fracture has declined 83 . In Sweden there are about 70,000 fractures related to osteoporosis every year 1 with an average one-year cost of SEK 4.6 billion 22 .



Figure 1 - Bone mass life line in men (\Diamond) and women (\Diamond) who achieve their full genetic potential peak bone mass (first shaded area). Second shaded area indicates menopause. T-score definition according to the WHO in 1994: Normal bone mass \geq -1 SD, Osteopenia -1 to -2.5 SD, Osteoporosis \leq -2.5 SD.

In children, osteoporosis has not yet been clearly defined, but it has been shown that, even in children, a lower BMD indicates an increased fracture risk ⁵⁶. Since children and adolescents have not yet reached their peak bone mass, it is not possible to use T-scores in this growing population; instead, Z-scores are used. Z-scores refer to age-matched reference values. For a diagnosis of osteoporosis in children and adolescents (5-19 years of age), the ISCD 2007 Pediatric Official Positions of the International Society for Clinical Densitometry ¹²³ has recently recommended the presence of both low bone mineral content (BMC) and low BMD, defined as a BMC or areal BMD (aBMD) Z-score less than or equal to -2.0 adjusted for age, gender and body size and a clinically verified fracture history as follows: one long bone fracture of the lower extremities; one vertebral compression fracture; two or more long bone fractures of the upper extremities.

The bone

Bone is one of the hardest tissues in the human body. It is unique in that it should be light enough to allow locomotive activity but at the same time flexible and strong enough to withstand bending, torsion and compressive forces without fracturing. The skeleton also protects vulnerable inner organs, contains the red bone marrow where new blood cells are produced and plays an important endocrine role and serves as a reservoir for minerals, mainly calcium and phosphorus. To fulfil these requirements, bone continually adapts to the mechanical and physiological demands placed upon it.

The composition of bone

The skeleton can be divided into the axial (e.g. vertebrae and the pelvis) and the appendicular skeleton (long bones). As an organ, bone is made up of the cartilaginous joints, the calcified cartilage in the growth plate in growing individuals, the marrow space, and the mineralised structures i.e. the bone. The cortical bone is a densely compacted tissue, which forms the outer layer predominantly of long bones. The cancellous bone is characterised by a network of trabeculae resulting in a large surface area, which makes this bone more sensitive to metabolic changes ¹²⁹. Bone as a tissue, is composed of intercellular calcified material, the bone matrix, and bone cells. The matrix, organic (~20%) and inorganic (~70%), is formed and maintained by the osteoblasts. The unique combination of organic and inorganic material results in the characteristic property of bone; the hardness and the elasticity ⁸⁰ (Figure 2).

Bone cells

There are three cell types in bone: 1) the bone-forming osteoblasts which, when engulfed in mineral, become 2) osteocytes and 3) the bone-resorbing osteoclasts⁹.

The osteoblast

Osteoblasts are differentiated from mesenchymal stem cells, a process that is controlled by a multitude of cytokines and can be divided into several stages, including proliferation, extracellular matrix deposition, matrix maturation and mineralisation. The osteoblasts synthesise and secrete collagen and noncollagenous proteins that comprise the organic matrix of bone and subsequently mineralise the organic bone matrix. They express high levels of alkaline phosphatase (ALP), a serum marker of bone formation. Subsequently, some osteoblasts disappear through programmed cell death (apoptosis), whereas others differentiate into flat cells lining the bone surface (lining cells) or become cells surrounded by the bone matrix in small lacunae (osteocytes) 116 .



Figure 2 – Long bone.

The osteocyte

It is well known that bone tissue is sensitive to the mechanical demands imposed on it and that inactivity or abnormally low mechanical stress results in reduced bone mass and disuse osteoporosis. The osteocytes, embedded deep within the lacunaes, express a variety of molecules, which make them respond to both mechanical and hormonal stimuli. They are characterised by long cell processes, which form a complex network through-out the bone matrix, providing intercellular communication, which plays an important role in the mechanosensitivity of the bone. This network also connects with osteoblasts and lining cells on the bone surface 73 .

The osteoclast

The osteoclasts, the exclusive bone-resorbing cells, are large multinucleated cells of hematopoietic origin. They are usually found in close association with bone surface and they are characterised by their ruffled border. Attached to the bone surface, the osteoclasts create an acid environment and bone tissue is dissolved by proteinase and enzyme activity. As with osteoblasts, osteoclast differentiation is regulated by cytokines and osteoclasts are also influenced by hormones and other factors.

Skeletal morphogenesis

Skeletal development starts from mesenchymal condensation. Ossification is controlled by two major mechanisms: intramembranous ossification (long bone formation directly from mesenchymal cells) and enchondral ossification (bone formation mediated by a cartilage scaffold) ¹⁶³. Histologically, there are two varieties of bone tissue: the immature, woven, primary bone; and the mature, lamellar, secondary bone, containing the same structural components but with differently organised collagen bundles. The immature bone that forms during embryonic life or after a fracture is eventually replaced by secondary bone tissue during growth and fracture healing ⁸⁰.

Bone modelling and remodelling

delicate There is а balance between bone-resorbing and bone-forming activity, referred to as bone remodelling (Figure 3), which is the dominant process in the adult skeleton. In the "basic bone multicellular unit" (BMU), osteoclastic bone resorption initiates osteoblastic bone formation ⁴⁶. This continuously replaces damaged and old bone with new bone tissue in the healthy skeleton. In the ageing skeleton, the balance is shifted in favour of resorption, which



Figure 3 – Remodelling cycle in trabecular bone: a) inactive face, b) bone resorption by osteoclasts, c) bone formation by osteoblasts (osteoid) and d) bone formation by osteoblasts (osteoid-mineralisation).

results in weaker, thinner bone. In the growing skeleton, modelling is dominant, when bone mass is added and the periosteal and endocortical diameters of bone are expanded. Modelling also includes changes in bone shape throughout life and promotes bone strength. Macro-modelling, is a term that is used when geometric properties are changed and improved due to regionally added bone mass. Mini-modelling occurs within the cancellous bone when the orientation of the trabeculae is changed in response to loading ⁴⁶.

Bone mass development during childhood

During normal growth, bone mass continuously increases in concordance with skeletal growth in length and breadth and the total skeletal mass peaks a few years after growth arrest. This peak bone mass (PBM) is achieved at different ages depending on skeletal site and the way the measurement of bone mass is performed ⁶⁷. Since it has been suggested that a higher PBM reduces the risk of osteoporotic fractures later in life ¹¹⁴ it could be important to optimise PBM. This can only be done during childhood and adolescence. Bone mass accrual depends on hereditary factors, physical activity and muscle development, dietary factors, hormones and growth factors. All these factors, which are important for achieving optimal predisposed PBM during growth, are continuously important throughout life ⁶⁷ (Figure 4).



Figure 4 – Factors influencing the achievement of peak bone mass.

Hormones that have an established role in the complex regulation of postnatal growth include growth hormone (GH), insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I) and sex steroids. GH and IGF-I have different target cells in the epiphyseal growthplate and they are both important for bone remodelling and bone mineral accrual. During pre-puberty, GH mainly promotes the growth of the long bones in terms of final height, but it also has a major effect on muscle mass development ¹⁴¹. During puberty, sex steroids also have an important effect^{111,115,149,158}.

In 1892, Wolff published an early milestone for understanding mechanical influence on bone. He suggested that "Every change in the form and function of bone or of their function alone is followed by certain definite changes in their internal architecture and equally definite alteration in their external conformation, in accordance with mathematical laws". However, before him, more than 400 years ago, Galileo and Vesalius suspected that skeletal geometry might depend on usage ⁴⁶. In 1862, Hueter and Volkmann separately postulated that: "There is an inverse relationship between compressive forces along the long axis of epiphyseal growth and the rate of epiphyseal growth" ¹⁴³.

According to Frost, who introduced the modern mechanostat theory, "Wolff refers to lamellar bone deposition and not to bone development; indeed, he felt that early bone formation from cartilage models was independent of mechanical stress! ". The mechanostat theory suggests that all skeletal organs (spongiosa, cortical bone, growth plate, articular cartilage, tendons, ligaments and muscle) adapt their structure, stiffness and strength to their voluntary mechanical usage. The mechanostat of the bone acts through a feed back system with two threshold ranges for strain (bone deformation during loading). Below the lower range, minimum effective strain for remodelling (MESr), there is an inadequate stimulus or disuse resulting in bone loss. Above the upper range, minimum effective strain for modelling (MESm), modelling will result in more bone being added. Between MESr and MESm, there is the physiological loading zone, where bone is held in a steady state. The thresholds can be altered during life due to for instance puberty or menopause or because of medical treatment, when a steady state mode will be replaced by either a disuse mode or a modelling mode ⁴⁶ (Figure 5).

Several intervention studies of the effect and benefit of increased physical activity in children have been published ^{89,90,96,101}. In adults, studies of bed-rest-induced bone losses have shown a recovery of bone mass and a remarkably high initial re-accrual rate of bone when the individuals start to bear weight again. The accrual of bone mass was comparable to that during the pubertal growth spurt and it followed the neuromuscular recovery, which clearly indicates, that the adult skeleton also has the capability to adapt to mechanical stimuli ¹²⁷.



Figure 5 – Skeletal adaptation to mechanical loading according to the mechanostat theory by Frost 46 . X-axis shows microstrain ($\mu\epsilon$).

To be able to follow bone mass development during growth in health and disease, normative values for different skeletal sites and for different bone measurement techniques have been established ^{17,105,106,144,164}. Studies have shown that peak height velocity during puberty precedes the highest velocity of bone mineral accrual by one to two years in both girls and boys ¹³ and that the metaphyseal bone strength at the distal radius lags behind the longitudinal growth ¹²²; this could be a reason for the increased fracture incidence seen during this period of life ⁸⁷. It has also been shown that muscle development precedes bone development during the pubertal growth spurt ¹²¹.

Biochemical markers of bone metabolism

Components are released into the circulation when bone matrix is formed and degraded during the continuous process of bone modelling and remodelling. These components can be assessed and monitored in serum and urine and are referred to as biochemical markers of bone turnover. Bone markers change rapidly in response to changes in bone formation and resorption, in contrast to the more slowly occurring changes detectable by any radiographic method ³⁵. Markers that specifically characterise either bone formation or resorption have been recognised, but most markers are also present in tissues other than bone. Moreover, these specific markers reflect bone turnover changes independently of underlying cause or skeletal site.

Markers of bone turnover can estimate fracture risk in postmenopausal women and older men 50,102 but the dominating advantage of these markers appears to be in the monitoring of anti-osteoporotic therapy (Table 1).

Bone formation markers	Bone resorption markers			
Pono mosific alluling phosphotoso	Carboxy-terminal cross-linking			
(PALD)	telopeptide of type I collagen (CTX)			
(BALI)	(cathepsin K generated)			
Ortoportain (OC)	Tartrate-resistant, acid phosphatase			
Osteocalcin (OC)	isoform 5b (TRACP-5b)			
Type I me collegen intest amine	Carboxy-terminal cross-linking			
Type I proconagen intact annio-	telopeptide of type I collagen (ICTP)			
terminal propeptide (PINP)	(matrix-metalloprotease generated)			

Table 1 – Biochemical markers of bone metabolism.

Bone formation markers

The most frequently used marker of bone formation is the enzyme alkaline phosphatase (ALP). There are several ALP isoforms of which four are bone specific (BALP) (B/I, B1, B2, and B1x). BALP, primarily expressed on the osteoblast cell surface, is cleaved from the cell surface and found within mineralised matrix. Studies of hypophosphatasia, a rare inherited disorder with impaired skeletal mineralisation, suggest that BALP plays a role as a pyrophosphatase (i.e. cleaving inorganic pyrophosphate, a potent inhibitor of mineralisation), thus promoting mineral deposition in vivo ⁶⁹. BALP is used as an early marker of bone formation; it is stable when sampled, has a relatively long half-life in serum (1-2 days) and its activity is highly correlated with longitudinal growth ³³.

Osteocalcin (OC), also known as bone Gla protein (γ -carboxyglutamic acidcontaining), is a small protein (5.8 kDa) that accounts for approximately 10% of the non-collagenous protein of bone. OC is regarded as a late marker of osteoblast differentiation and it is exclusively synthesised by osteoblasts, except for a very small fraction synthesised by odontoblasts. Theoretically, OC should be the most accurate marker of osteoblast activity; however, OC is relatively unstable with a short half-life in serum (5 min), which limits the diagnostic use of this marker. Moreover, OC is cleared by the kidneys, and is thereby affected by changes in kidney function.

When type I collagen is synthesised by the osteoblasts, a larger precursor molecule, procollagen type I, is first formed. The large globular ends of the procollagen molecule are enzymatically cleaved and secreted into the circulation as the carboxy- and amino-terminal propeptides of type I procollagen, PICP and PINP, respectively ¹⁴⁰.

Bone resorption markers

Initiating bone resorption, the osteoclast adheres to the bone surface and creates a closed zone between itself and the bone surface, where an acid environment is created and the mineralised bone is degraded. The osteoclasts release tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase isoform 5b (TRACP-5b), which can be used as a marker of bone resorption and it has also been suggested that TRACP-5b reflects the number of active osteoclasts ¹²⁵. In the acidified setting, the organic matrix is exposed, and type I collagen can be degraded by enzymes, which cleave cross-links within the molecule. Products of degradation can be detected in serum; they include the carboxy-terminal telopeptides of type I collagen, CTX and ICTP. It has been suggested that CTX reflects osteoclast activity ¹²⁵ (Figure 6).



Figure 6 – Illustration of bone remodelling with bone markers released into the circulation during bone resorption (TRACP-5b, CTX, ICTP) and during bone formation (PINP, BALP, OC).

Vitamin D

By maintaining physiological serum calcium and phosphorus levels, vitamin D supports metabolic functions, neuromuscular transmission and skeletal mineralisation. Vitamin D is provided indirectly through sunlight exposure and to a lesser degree directly from food intake. It is hydroxylated in the liver to 25-hydroxyvitamin D (25(OH) D), which is usually the metabolite measured in serum to evaluate the individual vitamin D status. Further hydroxylation occurs in the kidneys to 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D (1,25(OH)₂ D), the active metabolite. Vitamin D mediates the mineralisation of newly synthesised osteoid tissue within bone, but, if dietary calcium is inadequate, vitamin D interacts with the osteoblast-osteoclast coupling to dissolve bone for calcium release into the circulation ⁷¹.

Vitamin D deficiency causes rickets in children and osteomalacia in adults, but there is a growing conviction that less severe degrees of deficiency may also cause skeletal disease ⁶⁶. It is known that vitamin D deficiency results in muscle weakness and it has been observed that 1,25(OH)₂ D improves muscle function. Living in the northern part of the world, above 35° of latitude, implies a major risk of vitamin D deficiency ⁷¹. In Sweden, the recommended daily intake (RDI) of vitamin D for children is 10 μ g/day ¹³². However, the definition of 25(OH) D-insufficiency is unclear, as is the optimal RDI of vitamin D. Biggar and coworkers ¹⁶ recommended that supplementation is appropriate if serum 25(OH) D is $< 20 \mu g/L$, without making a distinction between vitamin D insufficiency and deficiency. Parathyroid hormone (PTH), a peptide hormone that regulates the minute-to-minute level of ionised calcium, stimulates bone resorption if the extracellular calcium levels are depleted, and, as suggested by Heaney 66, 25(OH) D levels of $< 30 \mu g/L$ should be regarded as vitamin D insufficiency based on the physiological response/elevation of PTH. However, as reviewed by Holick ⁷¹, most reports concur that serum 25(OH) D levels of $< 20 \mu g/L$ should be regarded as vitamin D deficiency.

Bone mass measurement

The importance of the amount of mineral in the skeleton for bone strength was recognised increasingly during the 1960s 14,109 . In further biomechanical research, the ultimate compressive strength of vertebral bodies was found to be positively correlated with the BMC 63 . It was also indicated that the bone mineral level, measured in vivo, could be used as a criterion of fracture risk in elderly women 34 . For the analysis of bone, biopsies can be used to determine the

histomorphometry, the exact bone mineral density and the microarchitecture of the bone. It is not realistic, however, in view of the prevalence of osteoporosis, to perform bone biopsies in every suspected case of this kind. Instead there has been an increasing call for indirect measurement techniques.

History

With the discovery of the radiographic technique by Wilhelm Conrad Röntgen in 1895, an opportunity to identify osteoporosis was introduced. During the planning of a Workshop on Bone Densitometry in 1959 a survey was made of the literature published at that time. The committee was "amazed at the volume of references and the number of techniques" that had been lost and then reinvented over the years. A bibliography of 125 items from 1935 till 1960 was presented in 1962 ⁴⁸. Some of these first attempts to measure bone density were performed using conventional radiograms and a visual comparison of the known density of specific phantoms.

The photon absorptiometry techniques improved bone densitometry with the invention of single-photon absorptiometry (SPA) by Cameron and Sorensen in 1963 ³² and Nilsson in 1966 ¹¹². This technique enabled the calculation of the amount of bone tissue; however, it was limited to a peripheral site only. It also required the subject's arm to be placed in a water bath to provide a uniform path length through which gamma rays would pass.

In dual-photon absorptiometry (DPA), gamma rays of two different energies were used, making it possible to distinguish soft tissue from bone and axial sites as the spine and the hip could be measured and bone mass estimated.

In the late 1980s, the SPA and DPA techniques were superseded by X-ray techniques, first single X-ray absorptiometry (SXA) and subsequently dualenergy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA), which resulted in improved accuracy and precision and also reduced the radiation dose compared with the SPA and DPA methods ³².

Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry

DXA measures the transmission of X-rays with high- and low-energy photons through the body. The X-ray sources can be of the pencil beam, fan beam or narrow fan beam type, which has an impact on magnification and the speed with which a scan is performed. The technique is capable of measuring two different tissue components, bone and soft tissue, and it is assumed that the relationship between lean soft tissue and adipose tissue is constant. This may lead to measurement errors, with an impact on accuracy as well as precision ^{20,43}. The DXA measurements reveal the areal bone mineral density (aBMD, g/cm²) and the bone mineral content (BMC, g) at the site on the body that is being measured. Since DXA is a projectional technique, a three-dimensional object is described as two-dimensional and it is not possible to reveal a volumetric density in g/cm³. This affects the interpretation of DXA scans obtained from bones of different sizes, in growing children, for example ¹³⁹. In adults a decrease in BMD measured using DXA is associated with an increased risk of fragility fractures ⁷⁷; this risk is also age-dependent ⁹³. Also in children, low bone mass has been shown to be associated with an increased fracture risk ²⁸.

Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry and laser

The dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry and laser (DXL) Calscan technique measures bone mass in the heel bone, using the principle of the DXA technique (fan beam) in combination with a laser measurement of total heel thickness. This combined measurement makes it possible to determine the fat-to-lean tissue ratio at the measurement site and the bone mass can be measured with greater accuracy ⁷⁸. This technology therefore reduces the uncertainty related to the variable composition of soft tissue in adults ⁶². In both elderly women and men, BMD impairment assessed using DXL is associated with a higher odds ratio for forearm fracture ⁸ (Figure 7).



Figure 7 – Schematic diagram of the DXL Calscan method. L = Laser diode, LD = Laser Detector, P = Internal aluminium phantom for calibration.

Quantitative computed tomography

To measure bone geometry and volumetric bone density with the ability to separately analyse cortical and trabecular bone, the method of choice would be quantitative computed tomography (QCT). Size-independent measurements are particularly useful in growing children. The major disadvantage of this technique, however, is the high radiation dose, which should be limited especially in children. The peripheral QCT (pQCT) technique gives a lower radiation dose and its usefulness has for example been shown in exercise intervention studies, where an increase in the cross-sectional area of cortical bone due to exercise could be demonstrated ². So far, however, QCT has not been shown to be superior to DXA in predicting the risk of fragility fractures ¹⁸.

Quantitative ultrasound

In the quantitative ultrasound (QUS) technique, broadband ultrasound attenuation (BUA, dB/MHZ) and the speed of sound (SOS, m/s) are used to reflect properties of bone related to density and architecture, respectively. The major advantages of this technique are that it is non-ionising and portable. In adults, QUS can predict fracture risk independent of bone mass determination¹⁰⁴. However, ultrasound values reflect not fully defined structural parameters and so far it has been difficult to use this information in children ⁵².

MRI

Skeletal assessment using the magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) technique is based on varying amounts of water and lipids in different tissues, which enables the differentiation of various anatomic structures. The major advantage of this technique is that it provides volumetric measurements of bone without using ionising radiation ¹⁵⁹. However, MRI has so far only been used in research and its applicability in clinical practice has still to be evaluated.

All available bone measurement techniques have their advantages and limitations. A summary is given in Table 2.

Table 2 – Summary of different bone measurement tech
--

Technique	Site	Radiation dose (µSv)	Precision (CV%)	Advantages	Limitations		
	Lumbar spine	0.4-4	< 1	 Rapid scan times High precision Availability of 	 Size-dependent measurements Integral 		
DXA	Total body	0.02-5	1-2	pediatric reference data 4. Low radiation dose	measurement of trabecular and		
	Proximal femur	0.15-5.4	0.15-5.4	5. Can assess body composition	cortical bone 3. Sensitive to body composition changes		
DXL	Calcaneus	< 0.2 adult < 0.12 children	1.2 2.4-9.8 ages 2-7	1. See DXA 1-4 2. Portable equipment	 See DXA 1-2 Only applicable to the heel bone 		
	Spine	3-D 55 2-D 50-60	0.8-1.5	 Size-independent Separate measure cor- 	 Relatively high radiation dose Access to 		
Axial QCT	Femur	3-D 10-20	< 1	3. Measures bone geo- metry, muscle and fat 4. Axial + peripheral sites	equipment can be problematic 3. Operation requires skilled staff 4. Long scan time		
	Radius	<1.5-4 per scan	0.8-1.5		ž		
Peripheral QCT	Tibia		3.6-7.8 ages 3-5 1.3-1.8 age 12	1. See Axial QCT 1-3 2. Low radiation dose	 See 3-4 Axial QCT Only applicable to peripheral sites 		
QUS	Calcaneus Radius	None	BUA 1.6-5 SOS 0.5-1.2	1. Nonionizing 2. Portable equipment	 Relatively low precision Sensitive to scan environment 		
MRI	Humerus Femur	None	0.12-1.02 0.55-3.63	1. Nonionizing 2. See 1-4 Axial QCT	 Noisy See 2-4 Axial QCT Claustrophobia in some patients & parents cannot be in room with children 		
Radio- gram- matery	Meta- carpal	0.17	< 1	 Retrospect. analysis Low radiation dose Widely available 	 Applicable to hand radiographs only Cortical measurements only 		

Compiled from tables in "Bone Densitometry in Growing Patients, Guidelines for Clinical Practice" and references therein ¹⁵⁹ and from Study I. **DXA** = dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry, **DXL** = dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry and laser, **QCT** = quantitative computed tomography, **QUS** = quantitative ultrasound, **BUA** = broadband ultrasonic attenuation, **SOS** = speed of sound, **MRI** = magnetic resonance imaging.

Measuring children

The best technique for determining bone mass in growing children is the subject of debate. The interpretation of bone mineral measurements is more complex in children than in adults irrespective of the technique that is used, as children are continuously growing. Several bone measurement techniques are relatively time consuming and they require that the subject does not move for quite a long period of time, which may be difficult for many children. For paediatric patients with different disorders, this could be even more difficult or even impossible and in most cases sedation is regarded as an unnecessary medical risk. Moreover, children with physical deformities can frequently not be whole-body-scanned. The same thing applies to patients who have undergone surgical procedures with metallic implants, where screws or plates interfere with the measurement. As a result, some patients cannot be adequately studied using regular whole-body, spine or hip DXA techniques, QCT or MRI techniques.

A method that measures bone mass with high precision and that is easy, rapid and well tolerated by children and, in addition, gives a low absorbed radiation dose would be preferable. Our desire to create a device suitable for young children and children with disabilities, who would be complicated to measure in the whole-body DXA devices, led to the further development of the DXL Calscan for this purpose. This will be discussed in more detail in this thesis.

Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophy

There are descriptions of Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) as early as 1836 (Conte and Gioja) ³⁷ and, in 1851, Meryon, a physician in London, gave a description of a family with four affected boys ³⁸.

Guillaume Benjamin Duchenne de Boulogne (1806-1875), the father of the application of electricity to medicine and the inventor of a biopsy needle for muscle biopsies, described the disease in more detail during the 1860s. At that time, it was believed that the condition might have a cerebral origin because of frequently occurring intellectual impairment in the affected children. In 1879, Gowers illustrated how these boys often behave when getting up from the floor by pushing themselves up using their legs – the Gowers' manoeuvre (Figure 8).

DMD is a genetic disorder caused by a mutation in the dystrophin gene on the X-chromosome, and it is also the most common type of muscular dystrophy (MD) in childhood ³⁷, with an incidence of 1:4,500 male births. Becker MD, is

caused by a deletion in the same gene as DMD, but it has a milder clinical course and is far more uncommon, with an incidence of 1:30,000 male births ¹¹⁰. Both disorders have a recessive inheritance, but not uncommonly they appear due to a new mutation located on the Xp21 dystrophin gene. This gene is one of the largest known genes and encodes for a correspondingly large protein, dystrophin, which is found in association with the sarcolemma in the skeletal muscle and it has been suggested that it plays an important part in stabilising the muscle cell membrane ¹⁶⁶. In DMD, virtually no dystrophin is produced, which causes progressive muscle wasting with necrosis and degeneration of muscle fibres and the muscle tissue is gradually replaced by adipose and connective tissue. In Becker MD, a smaller, but yet partially functional dystrophin is maintained, which makes a significant contribution to the milder course of this disease. The diagnosis of DMD or Becker MD is based on typical clinical signs and is moreover confirmed by muscular biopsies, which demonstrate dystrophin abnormality and DNA analysis ⁷⁶.



Figure 8 – Gowers' manoeuvre.

Clinical features

A waddling gait is the most generally description. The applied early appearance of weakness of the gluteus medius and minimus muscles, makes it difficult for the child to support the weight of his body when raising one leg and hip extensor weakness leads to a forward tilt of the pelvis and a compensatory lumbar lordosis to maintain an upright posture. Standing on the toes makes it easier to maintain a vertical posture and toe-walking often occurs before any fixed shortening of the Achilles tendon $\frac{37}{7}$ (Figure 9).



Figure 9 – Duchenne muscular dystrophy.

Characteristics:

- Onset at about 3 years of age for DMD and at about 11 years of age for Becker MD.
- Pain in the muscles, especially in the calves, often associated with exercise. Spasm in the calves is especially frequent in Becker MD. Toe-walking is a frequent habit in both DMD and Becker MD.
- Enlargement of the muscles, pseudohypertrophy, particularly the calves.
- Progressive symmetrical muscular weakness with increasing difficulty walking, climbing stairs and getting up from the floor (Gowers' manoeuvre, Figure 8).
- The age at which loss of independent walking occurs is between 7 and 13 years of age in DMD. Patients with Becker MD usually stay ambulant beyond the age of 16.
- When permanently in a wheel-chair, contractures and spinal deformities rapidly develop and respiratory problems occur in the later stages.
- Cardiac involvement is common. The skeletal muscle and the myocardium are primarily affected in these progressive disorders.
- Since dystrophin is also expressed in the brain, DMD and Becker MD are also associated with cognitive symptoms.

Treatment

Gene-based therapies are currently being developed and hold great promise ¹⁵², but as yet there is no cure for DMD or Becker MD. Glucocorticosteroids (GC) can, however, slow the progression and there is evidence from randomised controlled studies that GC therapy improves muscle strength and motor function in the short-term (six months to two years) in DMD ⁹⁷. There are also indications that GC in a longer perspective (eight years) contribute to improved cardiac function, lesser scoliosis and a slower decline in vital capacity ⁷². To maintain physical performance, physiotherapy is important at an early stage with stretching programmes and night splints to prevent ankle joint contractures ⁷⁴. Whether strength training is beneficial or harmful remains controversial ¹¹⁷. Endurance exercise with low resistance and high repetition has been shown to be more beneficial ⁶⁵.

Glucocorticoid therapy and bone

In 1932, Harvey Cushing (1869-1939) described a syndrome caused by the excessive production of adrenal gland hormones, e.g. cortisol. Different symptoms could be observed, one of which was a marked osteoporosis of the skeleton. Cortisol/GC increase the glucose level in the blood and the metabolism of fat and protein is also influenced. Moreover, GC have an anti-inflammatory effect, which make them useful in the treatment of several diseases, such as asthma, rheumatoid arthritis and DMD. Pharmacological doses of oral GC suppress bone formation, due to reduced IGF-I expression in the osteoblasts ¹⁴⁸ and increased osteoclastogenesis ²³. GC induce bone loss, which becomes evident after six to 12 months of chronic use ⁹²; however, the effect of GC on the bone is dose and time dependent ^{36,84,155}. It has been reported that children treated with oral GC have lower bone mass ^{30,36,84}. The extent to which GC contribute to increased fracture risk in children is, however, unclear ¹⁵⁴.

Duchenne muscular dystrophy and bone

In agreement with the mechanostat theory, which suggests that bone adaptation is driven primarily by changes in mechanical load ⁴⁷, conditions that reduce mobility during childhood would be associated with a lower PBM compared with the situation if physical activity were at a normal level. Accordingly several authors have reported reduced BMD or BMC in children with disabilities^{3,10,68,120}. Moreover, low BMD has previously been reported in DMD

patients ^{5,15,88} and both Aparicio and co-workers ⁵ and Larson and Henderson ⁸⁸ demonstrated that DMD patients lose bone mass in the proximal femur while they still are ambulant.

It has recently been demonstrated that low BMD is associated with an increased risk of fragility fractures in children ²⁸. For DMD patients it is most important not to sustain fractures, because this may result in the permanent loss of ambulation as a clinical consequence ¹⁵⁶. In the study by Larson and Henderson⁸⁸, 44% of the DMD patients sustained a fracture and the majority of fractures were located in the lower extremities. Other previous reports demonstrate an increased fracture frequency in DMD patients ^{100,156}. However, McDonald and co-workers 100 found that the question of fracture rate was still unanswered due to the diversity of data. Whether or not GC therapy contributes to fracture rate in children in general and in DMD patients in particular is also the subject of debate. Schara and co-workers were unable to find any differences in fracture rate between 13 DMD patients treated with deflazacort and 13 without steroid treatment ¹³⁷. In a larger retrospective chart review (n=143) in 2007, King and co-workers found that patients with DMD on long-term GC treatment displayed a significantly reduced risk of scoliosis and an extended time of more than three years of independent ambulation. However, at the same time, they ran an increased risk of vertebral and lower limb fractures compared with steroid-naïve patients⁸⁵.

Aims of the thesis

General aims

To evaluate the DXL method for bone densitometry measurements in children, to apply the DXL technique to patients with DMD and further to make a survey of the bone health of DMD patients.

Specific aims

- Study I To evaluate the precision and utility of the DXL Calscan device in a paediatric environment, and to provide reference data for healthy two-, four- and seven- year-old children for BMD, BMC and BMAD.
- Study II To evaluate the relationship between conventional DXA measurements and DXL measurements in a young population and to explore the diagnostic capacity of the DXL Calscan device.
- Study III To investigate parameters for bone mass at different sites, biochemical markers of bone turnover and key regulators of bone mass in patients with DMD in comparison with healthy age- and gender-matched controls.
- Study IV To investigate and compare the longitudinal development of bone mass during a four-year period in patients with DMD and Becker MD. In addition, to investigate the impact of muscle strength and motor function on bone mass in these patients.

Subjects

Study I

A total of 334 (172 girls/162 boys) Swedish children aged two (n=117, 60 girls/57 boys), four (n=110, 56 girls/54 boys) and seven (n=107, 54 girls/53 boys) were recruited in a random manner from schools and child health care units covering different socio-economic regions within and close to the city of Göteborg (approximately 500 000 inhabitants) in western Sweden. Only healthy, prepubertal children, born after 35 weeks of gestation and with no history of chronic disease or any medication, were included in the study. Sixteen children were excluded due to movement during the scanning procedure or because they did not meet the inclusion criteria. The term "two years of age" as children aged between 4.0 and 5.0 years, and "seven years of age" as children aged between 7.0 and 8.0 years.

A few patients, one of each with the following diagnoses: Rett syndrome, osteogenesis imperfecta, cerebral palsy, Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) and myelomeningocele, were also scanned in order to highlight the opportunity to use the DXL method in patient groups with disorders considered to affect the skeleton.

From Study I, at least 30% of the children in each age group were followed annually for another two years (Table 3 and Figure 10). These additional DXL measurement data (a total of 645 DXL Calscan measurements (328 girls/317 boys)) provided an opportunity to produce reference curves (mean \pm 2 SD) for calcaneal BMD for children aged two to 10 years, for girls and boys respectively.

Age (years)	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
Subejcts (n)	117	62	151	58	39	107	67	44
Girls/Boys (n)	60/57	34/28	77/74	29/29	20/19	54/53	32/35	22/22

Table 3 – Number of subjects in the DXL follow-up study for reference curves.

Subjects



Figure 10 – Number of children evaluated in Study I (ages within circles). The number of children (ages not within circles) who provided the additional DXL measurement data for the reference curves presented in Figure 18.

Study II

The total number of measurement sets in this study was 128. The study group consisted of 112 individuals (38 girls/74 boys), aged 2.2-20.6 years. The patients were recruited from the Queen Silvia Children's Hospital, Göteborg, Sweden.

The healthy individuals were known by the patients' families or by the hospital staff.

- 31 patients with DMD or Becker MD (all boys) (Figure 11)
- 34 patients with chronic juvenile idiopathic arthritis (28 girls/6 boys)
- 16 patients with kidney diseases (10 girls/6 boys)
- 31 healthy individuals (all boys)

The patients with kidney diseases participated twice, with a one-year interval between the measurements.

Study III

In this cross-sectional study, the patient group comprised 24 boys, 2.3-19.7 years of age (mean 11.9 \pm SD 5.2), all with immunohistochemically verified DMD (Figure 11).



Figure 11 – DMD and Becker MD patients in Studies II-IV.

The control group comprised 24 age-matched boys, 2.7-19.6 years of age (mean $11.8 \pm \text{SD 5.1}$), who were recruited randomly from healthy boys known by the patients' families or known by the hospital staff. Each DMD patient was matched as closely as possible with a control with respect to age (\pm 6.7 months).

Glucocorticoid (GC) treatment (Prednisolone 0.22 and 0.35 mg/kg/day):

Prior to this study (3.5-10.5 years before inclusion)

• 4 patients, treated for 1.3-3.2 years

At the time of inclusion

- 16 patients, treated for 0.1-11.5 years
- 4 patients, never treated with GC

Study IV

From Study III (baseline study), it was possible to include 18 patients with DMD (mean age 10.7 ± SD 4.6 (2.3–19.5)) for a follow-up study (mean age 14.6 ± SD 4.7 (6.6–23.5)) (Figure 11). At baseline, six patients with Becker MD (mean age 13.9 ± SD 2.9 (10.8–18.9)) were also included in this longitudinal study and they all also participated at follow-up (mean age 18.0 ± SD 3.0 (15.2–23.1)) (Figure 11). The study was performed between December 2003 and June 2008 and the mean follow-up time was 4.0 years for both the DMD and the Becker MD groups with a range of 3.5-4.5 years. For most of the statistical analyses, the DMD group (DMD_{tot}) was divided into two groups due to age differences between DMD and Becker MD patients; i.e. one DMD group < 10 years of age (DMD_{<10yr}), n=8 age at baseline mean 6.6 ± SD 2.5 and at follow-up mean 10.4 ± SD 2.4, and one DMD group > 10 years of age (DMD_{>10yr}), n=10, age at baseline mean 13.9 ± SD 3.0 and at follow-up mean 18.0 ± SD 3.0.

The diagnoses were immunohistochemically verified. From the baseline DMD patient group, two patients had died, one had moved to another part of Sweden and could not be reached for follow-up measurements, one patient was excluded because he had started treatment with bisphosphonates and two patients declined to participate in the follow-up study.
Glucocorticoid (GC) treatment (Prednisolone 0.22 and 0.35 mg/kg/day):

DMD group

Prior to baseline (3.5-10.5 years before inclusion):

• 3 patients treated for 1.3-2.5 years

At baseline inclusion:

- 13 of the DMD patients, treated for 0.1-11 years
- 2 patients, never treated with GC

At follow-up inclusion:

- 12 of the 13 DMD patients, still treated (duration 4.2-15 years)
- 1 patient, treatment withdrawn after 4.5 years
- 2 newly diagnosed patients, treated for 3.3 years

Becker MD group

At baseline inclusion:

- 2 patients treated for 8 years
- 4 patients, never treated with GC

At follow-up inclusion:

- 2 patients still receiving treatment (duration 12 years).
- 1 patient treated for one year between baseline (initiated one year after) and follow-up.
- 3 patients, never treated with GC

Ethics

All the studies were approved by the Human Ethics Committee at the Medical Faculty, Sahlgrenska Academy, at the University of Gothenburg.

Methods

Clinical assessments

In all the studies, height was measured using a wall-mounted stadiometer, weight was measured on analogue scales, and the left foot length was measured with a foot ruler. In Studies III and IV, it was not possible to measure standing height in some patients. In these patients the arm span, an accepted method for height assessment in disabled individuals, was measured 70 .

In all the studies, a questionnaire relating to general health and earlier fractures was designed for the participating patients and their parents to complete at inclusion and, in Study IV, a follow-up questionnaire was completed. In Studies III and IV, information on previous fractures was also collected from clinical files and spinal radiographs performed in some patients. In Study III, dietary records were kept for four days. Pubertal staging was performed according to the Tanner scale (Studies III and IV) ¹⁴⁹ and by a self-assessment of testis size made by the participants or by a parent (Study III) ¹¹⁸.

Bone mass measurements

Initially, a thorough survey was performed to adapt the DXL Calscan device for use in children. The tube current was lowered and the software was modified, so that the X-ray tube was operated at 68 and 35 kVp and the effective dose to the patient was less than 0.12 µSv. Moreover, after checking how the laser beam hit the heel, a foot support $(17 \times 11 \times 2 \text{ cm})$ was constructed to position the foot correctly for scanning when the foot was smaller than 21.1 cm (French shoe size 35) (Figure 12).



Figure 12 – Foot and foot support in the DXL Calscan.

In Study I, both the right and the left foot were initially measured in 16 children of different ages (between 2 and 7 years of age) and no significant difference was found between the right and left foot (BMD, p=0.33; BMC, p=0.61, with 95% limits of agreement ranging from -0.083 to 0.063 g/cm² and -0.049 to 0.043 g/cm² respectively). Thereafter, only the left foot was scanned in all studies (Study I-IV) (Figure 13).

The region of interest (ROI), with a fixed area of 0.74 cm², was placed in the trabecular portion guided by the two processes of the dorsal part of the calcaneus. The ROI was chosen to fit the relatively small calcaneal bone of the two-year-old children while being large enough to cover the dorsal portion of the calcaneal bone of the older children. The height of the



Figure 13 – DXL Calscan measurement.

calcaneus was measured with a soft ware ruler. In an attempt to calculate a value for BMAD (g/cm^3), the areal BMD (g/cm^2) value was divided by the height (cm) of the calcaneal bone at the location of the ROI (Figure 14).

BMAD $(g/cm^3) = BMD (g/cm^2)/calcaneal height (cm)$. In this thesis, BMAD is expressed in mg/cm³ in order more easily to distinguish BMAD from BMD in tables and figures.

In Studies II-IV, in addition to DXL measurements of the calcaneus, DXA (GE Lunar Prodigy, Madison, WI, USA) measurements of the total body (TB) were performed, as well as the $TB_{Head Excluded (HE)}$, the spine, the hip and the forearm. In these studies (II-IV), each individual was scanned using the two techniques (axial DXA and DXL Calscan) during the course of one day.

Methods



Figure 14 – The DXL scan of the calcaneus. The region of interest (a) is located in the dorsal third of the calcaneus. The calcaneal height (cm) is measured between the two processus tuberis calcanei (b and c).

Precision studies: The consistency of the DXL Calscan device was checked by measurements of hydroxyapatite in different concentrations incorporated in a solid, water-based, human-like phantom (Computerized Imaging Reference Systems, Inc., USA) by repeated measurements. The study duration was 26 months. The in-vitro precision of the device was determined from these phantom measurements according to the manufacturer's instructions. In-vivo precision was assessed by measurements on 23-27 children in each age group (2, 4, and 7 years) and the children were scanned twice in the DXL Calscan device by the same person and on the same day in order to determine the errors arising from both the repositioning of the foot and the selection of the ROI (Study I).

For the whole-body DXA measurements, twenty healthy persons (aged 6-37) were scanned twice in order to assess the in-vivo precision of the DXA Lunar Prodigy device (Study III). The in-vitro precision of the DXA Lunar Prodigy device was determined from phantom measurements according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Motor function and isometric muscle strength in the lower extremities

Motor function and muscle strength tests were performed in the patient groups in Studies III and IV. The classification of motor function was made according to the Vignos scale (grades 1-9) (Table 4) ¹⁵⁷. This grading basically reflects the strength of the lower extremities, trunk and pelvic musculature, represented by activities of ambulation and elevation.

Table 4 – Vignos scale.

Grade	Functional level
1	Walks unassisted and climbs stairs without assistance
2	Walks unassisted and climbs stairs with aid of railing
3	Walks unassisted and climbs stairs slowly with aid of railing
	(>25 seconds for eight standard steps)
4	Walks unassisted and rises from chair but cannot climb stairs
5	Walks unassisted but cannot rise from chair or climb stairs
6	Walks only with assistance or walks independently with long leg braces
7	Walks in long leg braces but requires assistance for balance
8	Stands in long leg braces but unable to walk even with assistance
9	Is in a wheelchair

Isometric muscle strength was measured using an electronic hand-held myometer. Abductors, extensors and flexors in the hip, extensors and flexors in the knee, ankle dorsiflexors, shoulder abductors and wrist extensors were investigated. In Studies III and IV, values from the knee extensor measurements (Figure 15) were used for further analysis. An isometric contraction of at least two to three seconds was required and the peak force in Newtons was recorded. The best of three values obtained on the non-dominant side was used for further analysis according to Scott and co-workers ¹⁴². In order to determine muscle strength in the knee extensors, regardless of the age of the patients, quotients were calculated between values obtained from the patients and reference values collected from healthy individuals of corresponding ages ^{11,12}.

Methods



Figure 15 – Myometry of the knee extensor strength.

Biochemical markers of bone metabolism

Blood samples were taken for analyses in Studies III and IV. Calcium, phosphate and total alkaline phosphatase (ALP) were determined by standardised and certified procedures. In Study III, bio-intact parathyroid hormone (PTH), i.e. the biologically active whole PTH molecule 1-84, was measured with an automated immunochemiluminometric assay using a Nichols Advantage® (Nichols Institute, San Clemente, CA, USA) ⁷⁵. At follow-up in Study IV, due to the discontinuation of the assay, serum intact PTH was analysed using an electrochemiluminescence immunoassay ¹³⁴.

Serum vitamin D 1,25(OH)₂ D and 25(OH) D were determined by ¹²⁵I RIAs (DiaSorin, Stillwater, MN, USA). Insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I) and testosterone were measured in the DMD group. An IGFBP-blocked RIA with a large excess of IGF-II was used to determine serum-IGF-I (Mediagnost GmbH, Tübingen, Germany) ¹⁹. Testosterone was determined by RIA (Spectra Testosterone RIA Kit, Orion Diagnostica, Espoo, Finland). Serum leptin concentrations were determined by RIA (Human Leptin RIA Kit, Linco Research, St Charles, MO, USA).

Markers of bone formation

Bone-specific alkaline phosphatase (BALP) activity was determined by an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), (Quidel Corp., CA, USA) ⁵³. Serum osteocalcin (OC) was determined by a radioimmunoassay (RIA), OSTK-PR[™] (CIS Bio International, Gif-sur-Yvette, Cedex, France) ⁹⁹. Serum type I procollagen intact amino-terminal propeptide (PINP) was determined by RIA (Orion Diagnostica, Oulunsalo, Finland) ¹⁰³.

Markers of bone resorption

Serum carboxy-terminal telopeptide of type I collagen (ICTP) was determined in serum using an ELISA (Orion Diagnostica, Oulunsalo, Finland). Type I collagen degradation was also assessed by the serum CrossLapsTM ELISA (Nordic Bioscience Diagnostics A/S, Herlev, Denmark), which is reported to measure a cathepsin K degradation product of trivalently cross-linked type I collagen (CTX) ¹³³. The serum osteoclast-derived, tartrate-resistant, acid phosphatase isoform 5b (TRACP-5b) was determined by a solid-phase immunofixed enzyme activity assay (SBA Sciences, Oulu, Finland). A resorption quotient was calculated by dividing the values of CTX by TRACP-5b in order to illustrate the osteoclast activity in relation to the number of osteoclasts, i.e. CTX/TRACP-5b ¹²⁵. Paediatric age- and gender-specific reference intervals are reported for biointact PTH ¹⁴⁷, intact PTH ²⁷, BALP and CTX ¹²⁴, testosterone ⁴, and IGF-I ⁹⁴.

Statistical methods

Continuous variables are presented as the mean \pm SD, mean \pm SEM, minimum, maximum and median values. Categorical variables are presented as n and percentages. The variation within individuals is given as intra-individual SD and CV and within operators as inter-operator SD and CV, together with limits of agreement. All the tests were two-tailed and conducted at a 5% significance level.

Study I

Fisher's non-parametric permutation test was used for comparisons between two groups. Wilcoxon's signed rank test was used for the analysis of inter-operator differences. Pitman's non-parametric permutation test was used for all correlation analyses. In addition, Pearson's correlation coefficient was calculated for descriptive purposes.

Tolerance intervals for heel BMD were calculated as a function of age and height respectively. The distribution of heel BMD as a function of heel BMD was not normally distributed. The ages were transformed to a normal distribution using the inverse of the normal cumulative density function as a function of the empirical cumulative density function for heel BMD.

A piecewise linear regression was estimated using the maximum likelihood principle, with transformed heel BMD values as a dependent variable and heel BMD, with a breakpoint at 0.2, as an independent variable. The SD of the residuals was estimated as a piecewise linear function of heel BMD with a breakpoint at 0.3. Given the estimated means and SD, it was possible to calculate the 95% tolerance intervals for the transformed heel BMD values.

Ninety-five per cent tolerance intervals could be directly given for the actual heel BMD values using the inverse function for normal transformation, described above. The mean for the actual heel BMD values at each heel BMD was calculated by taking the integral of 1-cumulative density function (F(x)).

Study II

For correlation analysis, Pearson's correlation coefficient was used in the article and Pitman's non-parametric permutation test was used in the summary chapter of a compilation dissertation. Wilcoxon's signed rank test was used for the analysis of inter-operator differences. In order to analyse whether there were differences in these correlations during early childhood compared with during adolescence, an analysis was also performed with the study group divided into two groups; one group consisting of children younger than 10 years of age (n=32) and one group consisting of children 10 years of age and older (n=96). Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves were produced with logistic regression to evaluate c-statistics (Area Under the ROC Curve (AUC)), the sensitivity and the specificity of the heel DXL measurements and to predict the lowest TB DXA quartile. Tolerance intervals for TB, TB_{HE}, spine and hip BMD respectively as a function of heel BMD were calculated and are described below for TB BMD. The distribution of TB BMD as a function of heel BMD was not normally distributed. The TB BMD values were transformed to a normal distribution using the inverse of the normal cumulative density function as a function of the empirical cumulative density function for TB BMD.

A piecewise linear regression was estimated using the maximum likelihood principle, with transformed TB BMD values as a dependent variable and heel BMD, with a breakpoint at 0.2, as an independent variable. The SD of the residuals was estimated as a piecewise linear function of heel BMD with a breakpoint at 0.3. Given the estimated means and SD, it was possible to calculate the 95% tolerance intervals for the transformed TB BMD values.

Ninety-five per cent tolerance intervals could be directly given for the actual TB BMD values using the inverse function for normal transformation, described above. The mean for the actual TB BMD values at each heel BMD was calculated by taking the integral of 1-cumulative density function (F(x)).

Study III

Tests between groups regarding continuous variables and number of fractures were performed using Wilcoxon's signed rank test in order to preserve the matched-pair design. For comparisons with reported reference values within the patient group Wilcoxon's signed rank test was used. Correlation analyses were performed with Spearman's non-parametric rank correlation.

Study IV

For comparisons between groups, Fisher's non-parametric permutation test was used for continuous variables. For comparisons of change in continuous variables over time within groups, Wilcoxon's signed rank test was used. Correlation analyses were performed with Spearman's rank correlation.

Results

DXL evaluation and paediatric reference data (Study I)

All in all, 334 DXL heel bone measurements on young children aged two, four and seven were included in this cross-sectional study. Analyses revealed positive correlations between BMD values and age (p<0.001, r=0.78), height (p<0.001, r=0.80) and weight (p<0.001, r=0.76) (Figure 16 a-c); all factors that reflect an increase in size.



Results



Figure 16 a-c – Scatter plots of BMD versus age (a), height (b) and weight (c) in children aged 2, 4 and 7 years (\bullet girls, \Box boys). Significant correlations as indicated in the figures.

Moreover BMAD values, calculated in this study in an attempt to adjust for different heel bone sizes, correlated significantly with age (p<0.001, r=0.23) (Figure 17), height (p<0.001, r=0.22) and weight (p<0.001, r=0.22).



Figure 17 – Scatter plot of BMAD versus age in children aged 2, 4 and 7 years (\bullet girls, \Box boys). Significant correlation as indicated in the figure.

The collected data are presented as percentile values for BMC, BMD and BMAD for each age group in Paper I, Table 2. Comparisons between boys and girls revealed no significant differences in BMD or BMC in the two- and four-year-old children; however, in the group of seven-year-old children, girls had significantly higher BMD and BMC than boys (p=0.02). To explore the utility of the DXL Calscan device, a few patients with disorders considered to involve the skeleton were scanned. The measurements were easily performed and all these patients had low values for BMD, BMC and BMAD compared with the reference values. Reference curves (mean ± 2 SD), based on a total of 645 (328 girls/317 boys) DXL Calscan measurements, were produced for calcaneal BMD according to age and height in girls and boys aged two to 10 years (Figure 18).



Figure 18 – Reference curves (mean \pm 2 SD) for calcaneal BMD according to age and height in two to 10 years old girls (n = 328) and boys (n = 317).

Results

Precision studies (Studies I and III)

DXL in-vitro precision

In Study I, the consistency of the DXL Calscan device was checked during the study by repeated measurements of an anthropometrical heel bone phantom. The CV (arithmetical mean) from these measurements was 1.1%.

DXL in-vivo precision

In-vivo precision values for the DXL Calscan measurements were assessed for each age group respectively. The intra-individual CV and the intra-individual SD (IISD) for BMD, BMC, calcaneal height and BMAD for children aged two, four and seven years are shown in Table 5.

Table 5 – In-vivo precision values for the DXL Calscan measurements. Coefficient of variation % (intra-individual SD).

	2 yr (n=23)	4 yr (n=26)	7 yr (n=27)
BMD (g/cm ²)	9.8% (0.016)	6.5% (0.015)	2.4% (0.007)
BMC (g)	10.1% (0.013)	8.1% (0.014)	2.6% (0.006)
Calcaneal height (mm)	4.0% (0.84)	1.8% (0.48)	3.7% (1.28)
BMAD (mg/cm ³)	10.7% (0.8)	6.2% (0.5)	3.7% (0.3)

The CV% decreased with increasing age, but, considering the BMD and BMC measurements, the IISD remained at the same level in the two- and four-yearold children and a smaller decrease was noticed in the seven-year-old children compared with the younger children. In ten children (aged 2-7 years) measured by two different operators, there was no significant mean difference (0.00) (SD=0.02, p=0.67) between the BMD values. The IISD was 0.013 with 95% limits of agreement ranging from -0.04 to 0.04 and the inter-operator CV for BMD was 5.3%. The intra-operator CV in heel height measurements that was utilised in volumetric evaluation of BMAD was 1.1%.

DXA in-vivo precision

In Study III, the in-vivo precision for whole-body DXA was assessed through measurements of twenty healthy persons (aged 6-37) who were scanned twice on the same day. The CVs from these measurements were 0.6% for TB BMD (IISD 0.007), 0.9% for spine (L1-L4) BMD (IISD 0.01), 1.3% for right hip BMD (IISD 0.01) and 1.6% for left forearm BMD (IISD 0.01). The coefficients of variation for body fat mass and lean mass were 3.4% and 1.2% respectively (IISD 484 g and 520 g respectively).

The relationship between calcaneal DXL and whole-body DXA measurements (Study II)

Study II aimed to investigate the agreement between measurements performed using the axial DXA technique and the DXL Calscan technique. Conventional DXA measurements of TB, TB_{HE} , spine and hip BMD in the total study group were significantly correlated with measurements of calcaneal BMD using DXL at all sites measured. Correlation coefficients are shown in (Table 6).

	Heel BMAD	TB BMD	TB _(HE) BMD	Spine BMD	Hip BMD
Heel BMD	0.91 n=128	0.73 n=124	0.83 n=93	0.72 n=124	0.90 n=81
Heel BMAD		0.45 n=124	0.62 n=93	0.47 n=124	0.76 n=81
TB BMD			0.96 n=93	0.95 n=124	0.85 n=81
TB _(HE) BMD				0.92 n=93	0.93 n=81
Spine BMD					0.85 n=81

Table 6 – Pearson's pair-wise correlation coefficients for BMD measured at different sites. All correlations are significant (p<0.001).

Likewise, significant correlations (p<0.001) were also found, when the study group was divided into children younger than 10 years of age and children 10 years of age and older (Figure 19).



Figure 19 – Non-linear relationship between BMD values assessed from calcaneal DXL measurements and DXA measurements of: (a) the total body (TB) (n=124), (b) the TB head excluded (TB_{HE}) (n=93), (c) the spine (n=124) and (d) the left hip (n = 81) and 95% tolerance intervals (\circ children <10 yrs, and \bullet children >10 yrs), significant (p<0.001) r-values for each group are presented in the figures.

Receiver operating characteristic curves (ROC) analyses revealed that both the sensitivity levels (0.9-1.0) and the specificity levels (0.86-0.95) were high (Table 7 and Figure 20), which implies that the lowest 25^{th} percentile of the DXA measurements could be well classified by the heel DXL measurements.



Figure 20 – ROC curves for predicting the 25th lowest percentile of BMD values measured using DXA in (a) the total body (TB), (b) the TB head excluded (TB_{HE}), (c) the spine and (d) the left hip with calcaneal BMD measured using DXL.

Left heel for prediction of BMD values below the 25 th percentile at:	Cut off Heel BMD	AUC	Sensitivity	Specificity	BMD value for 25 th percentile
ТВ	0.28	0.90	0.90	0.86	0.85
TB _(HE)	0.26	0.98	1.00	0.94	0.69
Spine	0.26	0.95	0.90	0.92	0.70
Hip	0.22	0.96	0.90	0.95	0.63

Tabell 7 – ROC Analysis Study II. AUC = Area Under the ROC Curve

Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophy studies (Studies III and IV)

In the cross-sectional study (Study III), 24 patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) (2.3-19.7 years) were compared with 24 age- and gendermatched healthy controls from a wide perspective with reference to bone health, and with particular emphasis on BMD measured at different sites, bone turnover, and calciotropic hormones.

In the four-year longitudinal study (Study IV), 18 patients with DMD from Study III (2.3-19.7 years at baseline) and six patients with Becker muscular dystrophy (MD) (10.8-18.9 years at baseline) were followed with respect to bone mass, body composition, motor function and muscle strength. Since there were obvious age differences between the groups, the DMD group was divided into two groups and comparisons between DMD and Becker MD patients above 10 years of age could be performed.

Characteristics (Studies III and IV)

To summarise growth data from these studies (Studies III and IV), there were no significant differences between DMD patients (aged 11.9 \pm 5.2 (2.3 - 19.7)) and healthy age-matched controls (aged 11.8 \pm 5.1 (2.7-19.6)) in terms of weight and height at birth or at one year of age. With increasing age, however, the DMD patients were found to be significantly shorter (p<0.001) and lighter (p<0.001) compared with healthy controls. The DMD_{>10yr} patients were also shorter (p<0.01) and lighter (p<0.05) compared with the Becker MD patients at follow-up.

DXL and DXA measurements (Studies III and IV)

Despite growth during childhood and adolescence, BMD values obtained from the hip and the heel decreased with age in the DMD group. The values assessed from the spine, TB, TB_{HE} and forearm appeared to remain at a similar level with increasing age (Study III). These findings were confirmed for the hip and the heel BMD in the four-year longitudinal study (Study IV). The decrease was, however, only significant for hip BMD values in DMD patients above 10 years of age (DMD_{>10yr}). In the healthy control group, increasing BMD values with age were demonstrated at all the sites that were measured (Figure 21).



Figure 21 – BMD for different sites; (a) the TB head excluded (TB_{HE}), (b) the spine (c), the right hip and (d) the left heel, in relation to age. DMD patients (\blacksquare) and healthy controls (\circ). The differences in BMD values between the patients and the controls increased significantly with increasing age (TB_{HE} p<0.001, r=0.92, spine p<0.001, r=0.78, hip p<0.001, r=0.89, heel p<0.001, r=0.82).

In the Becker MD group, the BMD values increased with age in most individuals at all the sites that were measured; however, there was only a significant increase in TB BMD and BMC and spine BMD (Table 8) (Figure 22).

Table 8 – Changes (Δ) in DXA and DXL measurement parameters from baseline to follow-up in Study IV. Total body (TB), TB head excluded (TB_{HE}), right (R) and left (L), ns=non-significant

	Becker MD		DMD		
	n=6		n=18		
	mean (SD)	p-value	mean (SD)	p-value	p-value
	median (min;max)	within	median (min;max)	within	between
	n=	group	n=	group	groups
∆ TB BMD	0.116 (0.057)	< 0.05	0.036 (0.041)	< 0.01	0.002
	0.125 (0.028; 0.190)		0.033 (-0.011; 0.114)		
	n=6		n=15		
Δ TB _{HE} BMD	0.150 (0.034)	ns	0.027 (0.035)	0.01	< 0.001
	0.136 (0.118; 0.199)		0.025 (-0.042; 0.092)		
	n=5		n=14		
∆ TB BMC	781 (385)	< 0.05	191.3 (141.1)	< 0.001	< 0.001
	758 (236; 1330)		218.2 (-144.3; 380.6)		
	n=6		n=15		
Δ TB _{HE} BMC	823 (300)	ns	142.7 (139.7)	< 0.01	< 0.001
	850 (511; 1257)		174.2 (-174.0; 321.2)		
	n=5		n=14		
Δ Z-score TB	-0.4 (0.6)	ns	-0.9 (0.8)	< 0.01	ns
	-0.2 (-1.1; 0.2)		-1.1 (-1.7; 0.8)		
	n=6		n=13		
∆ spine BMD	0.255 (0.086)	< 0.05	0.064 (0.074)	< 0.01	< 0.001
	0.260 (0.133; 0.356)		0.089 (-0.091; 0.174)		
	n=6		n=14		
Δ Z-score spine	0.4 (1.0)	ns	-0.5 (0.9)	ns	ns
	0.6 (-0.8; 1.4)		-0.6 (-1.9; 1.6)		
	n=6		n=12		
∆ R FN BMD	0.120 (0.116)	ns	-0.071 (0.114)	< 0.05	< 0.01
	0.097 (-0.040; 0.310)		-0.064 (-0.355; 0.094)		
	n=6		n=15		
∆ L heel BMD	0.050 (0.055)	ns	-0.019 (0.070)	ns	< 0.05
	0.030 (-0.006; 0.130)		-0.002 (-0.159; 0.130)		
	n=6		n=18		
△ L heel BMC	0.037 (0.042)	ns	-0.015 (0.055)	ns	< 0.05
	0.020 (-0.006; 0.095)		0.000 (-0.122; 0.108)		
	n=6		n=18		



Figure 22 – BMD for different sites for Becker MD patients and DMD patients; (a), (b) the right femoral neck and (c), (d) the left heel in relation to age at baseline (empty symbols) and at follow-up (filled symbols). Becker MD patients (\circ and \bullet) and DMD patients (\Box and \blacksquare). The BMD values were significantly lower in the DMD group compared with the Becker MD group at all sites at both baseline and follow-up (p<0.001). For the total DMD group, a significant decrease in femoral neck BMD was noted during Study IV (p<0.05).

BMD and BMC values for TB, TB_{HE}, spine, heel and hip were all significantly lower in the DMD patient group in comparison with the healthy control group (p<0.001) (Study III), and as shown in Figure 21, this cross-sectional study demonstrated that the differences in BMD values between DMD patients and healthy controls increased significantly with age (TB_{HE} p<0.001, r=0.92, spine p<0.001, r=0.78, hip p<0.001, r=0.89, heel p<0.001, r=0.82). Study IV demonstrated that the BMC and BMD values were significantly lower also in the DMD_{>10yr} group compared with the age-related Becker MD patients at all the sites that were measured both at baseline and at follow-up (see Table 2 in Paper IV). The DMD_{tot} group showed a significant decrease in the femoral neck BMD during this four-year period (p<0.05) (Figure 22). In comparison with healthy age- and gender-matched controls, additional results collected from the followup study revealed that patients with Becker MD also had significantly lower BMD at most sites, even if this was less pronounced than in the DMD patients (Figure 23).



Figure 23 – The Becker MD patients and the DMD patients were compared with healthy age- and gender-matched controls. The figure shows BMD values as a percentage of control for each patient group and for different skeletal sites. Significant differences within the groups * p<0.05, ** p<0.01.

Bone measurements and motor function (Studies III and IV)

Both the cross-sectional Study (III) and the longitudinal Study (IV) demonstrated a significant influence by motor function and muscle strength on bone mass measurement results. In Study III, motor function according to Vignos grade correlated significantly with heel BMD (p<0.001, r=-0.80). In the same way, there was a significant correlation between heel BMD and isometric muscle strength (p<0.001, r=0.76). For the patients, the percentage of isometric muscle strength in the knee extensors in relation to reported reference values for healthy individuals of the same ages were calculated ^{11,12}. In Study III, these quotients correlated significantly with the BMD values in the hip (p=0.016, r=0.54) and even more strongly with the heel BMD values (p<0.001, r=0.82). However, no significant correlations were found between the results of the motor function or muscle strength tests and the BMD values in TB, TB_{HE} or spine in Study III. In Study IV, it was demonstrated that motor function (Figure 24) and muscle strength decreased with increasing age during a period of four years.

Follow-up

		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
	1	••	●□		٠					
	2									
	3									
e	4									
	5									
	6									
	7								-	
	8									
	9									••

Baseline

Figure 24 – Vignos grades for Becker MD patients (\bullet) and DMD patients ($\Box < 10$ yrs and $\blacksquare > 10$ yrs) at baseline and at follow-up in Study IV.

The quotients for knee extensor muscle strength in relation to reference values^{11,12} were significantly lower at baseline in the DMD_{>10vr} group ($15 \pm 15\%$) compared with the age-related Becker MD group $(76 \pm 31\%)$ (p<0.001). During the study period these quotients decreased in both groups; for the DMD_{>10vr} group $-10 \pm 12\%$ (median -8% (-36 to 0%) (p<0.01)) and for the Becker MD group $-19 \pm 25\%$ (median -16% (-63 to 7%) (p=0.12)). However, between the DMD_{>10vr} and the Becker MD groups, these changes did not differ significantly (p=0.39). Correlation analyses between muscle function parameters (Vignos grade, knee extensor strength and knee extensor quotient) and BMD values (TB_{HE}, FN and heel) in the total patient group (all DMD and Becker MD patients taken together) performed in Study IV revealed a strong association between BMD values particularly in the lower extremities and the muscle function parameters assessed in the study; for Vignos grade at baseline: FN (p<0.001, r=-0.85), heel (p<0.001, r=-0.86), at follow-up: FN (p<0.001, r=-0.86)r=-0.72), heel (p<0.001, r=-0.77); for the knee extensor parameters versus heel BMD both at baseline and at follow-up (all p<0.001, r=0.82-0.89). In this study there was also a significant correlation between TB_{HE} BMD and Vignos grade at baseline (p<0.001, r=-0.56) and at follow-up (p<0.001, r=-0.78) and between TB_{HE} BMD and knee extensor parameters both at baseline and at follow-up (pvalues varying between <0.05 to <0.001 and r-values between 0.50-0.74) (see Paper IV, Table 3).

Body composition (Studies III and IV)

In Study III, the DMD group had a significantly larger amount of body fat than the healthy control group (p=0.007). The amount of lean mass was, however, significantly lower in the DMD group compared with the healthy controls (p<0.001). In Study IV, there were no significant differences in fat mass between the DMD and the Becker MD groups at baseline or at follow-up. The Becker MD group did, however, have significantly (p<0.001) more lean mass both at baseline and at follow-up compared with DMD_{>10yr} and the lean mass in the Becker MD group during follow-up (p= 0.035) (Table 9).

Table 9 – Changes (Δ) for lean mass (kg), muscle mass (kg) and weight (kg) in Becker MD and DMD patients during follow-up (Study IV). Significant differences within the groups * p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *** p<0.001

	All DMD	Becker	DMD>10 years	DMD<10 years
	n=18	n=6	n=10	n=8
	mean (SD)	mean (SD)	mean (SD)	mean (SD)
	median	median	median	median
	(min;max)	(min;max)	(min;max)	(min;max)
	n=	n=	n=	n=
Δ Lean mass	3.8 (3.3)***	9.2 (7.1)	2.1 (1.5)*	5.2 (3.8)*
(kg)	2.9 (-2.1; 10.1)	12.5 (-3.5; 14.7)	1.8 (5.6; 5.1)	5.9 (-2.1; 10.1)
	n=15	n=6	n=7	n=8
Δ Fat mass	12.3 (9.5)***	4.6 (13.3)	8.6 (4.2)*	15.6 (11.8)*
(kg)	11.0 (5.8; 37.3)	6.1 (-19.3; 16.7)	76 (3.7; 13.8)	14.6 (5.83; 37.3)
	n=15	n=6	n=7	n=8
Δ Weight	14.9 (11.2)***	13.9 (14.9)	10.2 (6.4)**	20.7 (13.4)*
(kg)	13.4 (-2.5; 42.3)	17.3 (-13.9; 30.0)	9.2 (-2.5; 20.0)	19.6 (0.7; 42.3)
	n=18	n=6	n=10	n=8

When the DMD and the Becker MD patients were pooled, correlation analyses revealed that TB BMC was positively correlated to lean mass at baseline (p<0.001, r=0.93, n=24) and at follow-up (p<0.001, r=0.77, n=21) (Figure 25). Further correlation analyses revealed that the changes in lean mass in all patients taken together during the follow-up period correlated significantly with the changes in TB BMC (p<0.05, r=0.52, n=21), which is shown in Figure 26. In these figures, however, a difference can be seen between the DMD patients and the Becker MD patients, who appear in part to form two separated groups during the study period.





Figure 25 – Correlation analyses for BMC (g) according to lean mass (g) including both Becker MD (\circ and \bullet) and DMD (\Box and \blacksquare) patients in Study IV; (a) at baseline (p<0.001, r=0.93, n=24) (empty symbols) and (b) at follow-up (p<0.001, r=0.77, n=21) (filled symbols).

Results



Figure 26 – A significant correlation was noted (p<0.05, r=0.52, n=21) between the BMC changes (g) and the lean mass changes (g) during the four-year longitudinal Study IV; all patients together (Becker MD \triangle and DMD *).

Biochemical markers of bone metabolism (Studies III and IV)

In the cross-sectional study (Study III), comparisons between DMD patients and healthy controls revealed that all bone formation markers were significantly lower in the patient group (BALP (p=0.002), PINP (p<0.001) and OC (p<0.001)). Significantly lower values for the bone resorption markers CTX (p<0.001) and TRACP-5b (p=0.002) were also found in the patient group, but not for ICTP (p=0.09). The CTX/TRACP-5b quotient (a suggested index for osteoclast activity in relation to the number of osteoclasts) ¹²⁵, indicated that the majority of patients (11/16) had a lower quotient than their corresponding controls (p=0.025). The levels of bio-intact PTH were within the normal range for all subjects and did not differ between the patients and the healthy controls. Significantly lower levels of 25(OH) D were found in the patient group (21 ± 6 µg/L) compared with the controls (30 ± 8 µg/L) (p<0.001). In the longitudinal study (Study IV), the bone formation marker BALP levels and the bone resorption marker CTX levels were only significantly lower in the DMD_{>10yr} group compared with the BMD group at baseline (p<0.05).

Food questionnaire (Study III)

In Study III, dietary records were kept for four days, but only a very small number of participants completed these records (15 patients and 8 controls) and no further statistical analysis was performed on these data. The data that were obtained revealed, that the patient group obtained a mean of 72% of the daily intake of energy (kJ) recommended (RDI) in Sweden (controls 94%)¹³², 83% of the protein RDI (controls 107%), 71% of the fat RDI (controls 98%) and 69% of the carbohydrate RDI (controls 87%). The dietary calcium intake was more than 100% in both groups (patients 114% and controls 119%) and the vitamin D intake was 94% in the patients and 103% in the controls.

Fractures (Studies III and IV)

Both Studies III and IV indicate that patients with muscular dystrophy more frequently experience a fracture in the lower limbs compared with the upper limbs and compared with healthy individuals.

In Study III, the fracture rate was 25% in the DMD group (n=6) (7/11 fractures in the lower limbs) and 37.5% in the healthy control group (n=9) (4/13 fractures in the lower limbs); however, the numbers of fractures were small and the numerical differences were not statistically significant.

During the four-year follow-up study period (Study IV), six of 18 DMD patients sustained one or more fractures. Three of the DMD patients who had previously sustained fractures had another four fractures; two patients with one foot fracture each and one patient with both an ankle and a femur fracture. Three DMD patients sustained one fracture each for the first time; one in the foot, one in the ankle and one vertebral fracture. One of the BMD patients, who had previously had a foot fracture, sustained a tibial fracture during follow-up. At follow-up, there was a relatively higher rate of fractures in the Becker MD group (67%) (n=4) compared with the DMD group (39%) (n=7). Fractures were mostly observed in the lower extremities; 9/13 fractures in the DMD patients and 3/5 fractures in the Becker MD patients. However, this study was also small and no further statistical analysis of the fractures was performed.

General discussion

In this thesis, it has been shown that the DXL Calscan is convenient and easy to use in a paediatric population, containing children as young as two years of age. In addition, it has been demonstrated that it is possible effortlessly to perform measurements of the calcaneus using this device in children and adolescents with severe disabilities.

ROC analyses revealed that heel DXL BMD measurements can predict low whole-body DXA BMD values with high reliability.

The study has provided percentile values for calcaneal BMC, BMD and BMAD in children aged two, four and seven years, and the continuous work of collecting normative data in young children has recently made it possible to present reference curves (mean \pm 2 SD) for BMD in the calcaneus for children aged two to 10 years, for girls and boys separately.

The DXL Calscan method, together with analyses of bone turnover, muscle strength and motor function, was applied to DMD and Becker MD patients, whose muscles become increasingly weak with age. The bone mass as measured by DXA and DXL, was significantly reduced in the DMD patients compared with healthy individuals and the differences between the groups increased with age. In addition, reduced bone turnover was found in the DMD patients compared with healthy controls. The fracture rate was similar in the DMD group and the healthy control group, but the DMD patients experienced fractures in the lower extremities more frequently than the healthy individuals. Differences in bone mass accrual were observed between DMD patients and Becker MD patients, the latter group experiencing a milder course of the disease. Longitudinal data revealed a decrease in hip BMD in the DMD patients with time. Significant correlations between bone mass parameters and muscle strength and motor function were observed.

Methodological considerations - DXL and DXA

There are several factors of importance for bone strength. Bone mass is one of them, but high BMD or BMC is not synonymous with stronger bone. This is one reason why the DXA technique has been called into question. However, DXA has been proven to be able to predict fracture risk in adults ⁷⁷ and there is also an

association between low BMD and fracture risk during childhood ^{29,55}. The disadvantages of using the DXA technique, such as its being an imaging technique without the opportunity to measure bone in the geometrical way the bone is constructed, may well be overcome if this tool is good enough to identify risk individuals and safely predict fracture risk. Experience of using the DXA technique has now been widespread for many years and most users are well aware of the difficulties associated with interpreting measurement data, especially in growing individuals ^{64,139}. Although QCT or pQCT measurements are able to provide information on bone geometry and cross-sectional muscle area, these techniques have not been shown to be superior to DXA in terms of fracture prediction ¹⁸. The development of the DXA technology, especially the finding of methods that are more suitable for children, which were one of the aims of this study, might therefore be well advised.

Finding the most appropriate method for measuring children is challenging. Certain difficulties are involved in performing measurements in children, irrespective of the technique that is used, particularly in very young children and in children with different disorders or disabilities. Movements cause artefacts on a scan and internal metallic implants, as well as feeding tubes or ventilator connectors, also interfere with the scan. Study I revealed that the DXL Calscan method was easy to use and that it was well tolerated by all subjects, even by the very young two-year-old children. Since the device is portable, it was also convenient to carry out measurements at schools and day-care centres. No more than 16 of 350 scans, had to be excluded because of movement artefacts, which illustrates that the measurements were easy to perform. In Studies II-IV, several patients could not be measured at all sites in the whole-body DXA due to metallic implants, contractures or difficulty moving the patient from the wheelchair to the DXA bunk, which is a limitation in these studies and also to this DXA method. All the patients in these studies could be measured in the DXL Calscan device.

Since DXA and DXL are two-dimensional techniques, they do not allow the volumetric measurement of the bone, which makes it even more complicated to measure and follow growing individuals. Different calculation models for bone mineral apparent density (BMAD) have therefore previously been proposed^{24,162}. In Study I, it is suggested that the information on calcaneal height should be added for the adjustment of differences in size at different ages and in different individuals. In Study I, this BMAD (mg/cm³), was shown to be less influenced by age, and in Study II, it was independent of the age, weight and height of the

children. This indicates that this BMAD may be used as an independent measurement when assessing the bone density of the growing skeleton. The fact that the BMAD increase is less evident with age compared with the BMD increase, may also indicate that bone mass accrual is more dependent on longitudinal growth than on the skeleton becoming more dense or mineralised at tissue level, at least in prepubertal stages.

A recent report ⁵⁴ recommended that densitometry values should be assessed from the lumbar spine and TB_{HE} (total body head excluded), when investigating bone mass in children. The present Studies III and IV, however, demonstrate the importance of also assessing values from other skeletal sites, depending on how the specific disease affects the body. The studies of DMD and Becker MD patients clearly demonstrate the differences in bone mass development at different sites, probably generated by the gradual deterioration in muscle in these patients, primarily affecting the lower extremities.

Normative data

In recent decades, an increasing amount of reference or normative data for DXA measurements in children have been reported 21,26,81,105,164 and every kind of DXA device or company with DXA equipment probably now also has its own reference material within the software. Ideally, reference data should be representative of the overall population and derived from a large enough sample size of individuals, adequately to characterise the variability of the bone measurements. At the present time, normative data reported in the literature comprise very few individuals in each age group, especially in the youngest ages (2-5 years). In the update on growth reference values ¹⁶¹, data from measurements of 4,488 boys and girls from birth up to 18 years of age were collected. In that study, the smallest number of individuals used in any age group was 55 girls and the largest number was 1,849 boys. In the light of that study, even the sample size of more than 100 children (50% girls and 50% boys) in each age group (2, 4, and 7 years) in Study I, appears to be too small. However, compared with other bone densitometry reference data, where 5-27 children of each gender and age between 2 and 7 years of age are measured in the lumbar spine and femoral neck ¹⁶⁴ or, in a study of the calcaneus, where a total 70 children between 5 and 8 years of age were measured ²⁶, the present study appears to include a more relevant population size. Kalkwarf and coworkers recently published normative data from a large ongoing longitudinal multicentre study 81. In that study 70-178 non-black girls or boys and 21-61

black girls or boys up to the age of 17 were included; however, that study comprised no children younger than 7 years of age.

It is recommended that SD scores for paediatric bone densitometry reference data should be calculated ¹⁶⁵. This is definitely important for the evaluation of measurement results when there are very low or very high values, which could be outside the reference population distribution (i.e. > 100^{th} percentile or < 0^{th} percentile) and it is also of importance for the longitudinal follow-up of children. From a three-year longitudinal study following Study I, we have recently been able to add calcaneal bone densitometry data for the calculation of SD scores in children 2-10 years of age. This may be of value for future research studies and for clinical use.

Precision data

Precision is often expressed as the coefficient of variation, CV% = SD/meanvalue. If the mean value is very small, it follows that the CV% will be relatively larger, when SD remains constant. This was well exemplified in the DXL study (Study I), where we observed a fairly high CV% in the two-year-old children and a decrease in the CV% up to age of seven. This highlights the probable importance of also documenting the intra-individual SD (IISD), because these values tell us more about the true variance between measurements in individuals of different sizes or ages. We found that there was a small IISD in each age group, but this variance was similar in two- and four-year olds. It did, however, decrease in the seven-year-olds compared with the two younger groups. In some way these findings reduced the suspicion that there were considerable variances between measurements in these young children. At the same time, it confirmed the suspicion that the precision was somewhat weaker in the youngest children. DXA and DXL techniques may have difficulty recognising the more cartilaginous tissue in very young children compared with bone tissue in older individuals. The results could also be explained by the fact that measurements of a smaller foot are likely to be more sensitive to intra-individual differences in the positioning of the foot.

The relatively high CVs that were found in Study I, especially for the youngest children, are a limitation to the method. CVs at similar levels are seen also for pQCT and this is probably due to the small amount of bone (small mean values) measured at a peripheral site. Since a change of $2.8 \times CV\%$ is usually required to be statistically significant (the least significant change), a high CV% reduces the

possibility to monitor changes in BMD in an individual over time. On the other hand, the trabecular bone, which is the major type of bone in the calcaneus, is more sensitive to metabolic changes than cortical bone. Therefore changes are probably seen first in this location, making the calcaneus an appropriate site for measuring and monitoring BMD after all.

In reporting DXA results, authors often refer to the CV% from the manufacturer ¹³¹, from other studies ¹⁵³, or the results from a group of individuals of different ages ^{89,106,164}. The way and in what individuals (ages, sex etc.) these values have been calculated is not always reported ⁴¹, which unfortunately largely precludes proper comparisons between different studies. For example, in another study of the calcaneus, Martini and co-workers ⁹⁸ reported a difference in the CV% between osteoporotic and non-osteoporotic women; the CV% was 2.4% and 1.7%, respectively. The IISD was, however, not reported and it is only possible to speculate about whether there are differences in the SD between the groups or if the difference in the CV% is only caused by the lower mean BMD value in the osteoporotic women.

Correlation between different bone densitometry techniques

For many years, the whole-body DXA technique has been regarded as the "gold standard" for assessing bone mass. However, as there are situations in which it is not possible to use this technique, other techniques have to be evaluated and validated. Chinn and co-workers ²⁶ previously presented data on heel BMD measured using peripheral DXA and found a linear, strong correlation to TB BMD in healthy children aged 5-18 (r=0.82 and 0.88 for girls and boys respectively). In Study II, similar correlations are presented; pair-wise correlation coefficients for BMD values measured in the calcaneus using the DXL Calscan and BMD values measured at other sites using the whole-body DXA varied between 0.72-0.90. However, the correlations appeared to be weaker, the lower the BMD (Figure 19). Study II also demonstrated correlations between wholebody DXA and heel DXL BMD measurements that were similar to those presented in previous studies performed in adults ^{98,131}. The studies in adults have used the T-score for calculations, which is not used in children. For this reason, our study results are not easy to compare with those in adults. Previous comparative studies of quantitative ultrasound (QUS) measurements and BMD measurements have generally yielded weaker correlations, especially when peripheral OUS measurements have been correlated with axial DXA. The correlation coefficients have ranged between 0.3 and 0.7^{40, 130}. Sundberg and coworkers ¹⁴⁵ reported correlations (r-values) ranging between 0.44 and 0.70 for QUS and BMD at different sites in a study of 280 children, who were 11-16 years of age. In comparison with DXA and DXL technologies, QUS technology appears to be more sensitive to environmental influences ¹⁵⁹ and the poorer precision of QUS in comparison with DXA limits its applicability for longitudinal use in progressive disorders or in therapeutic interventions ⁸⁶.

Physical activity and physical inactivity

During childhood and adolescence, changes in long bone size are determined by both longitudinal growth and the expansion of the cross-sectional bone area 46 . Periosteal modelling leads to wider and larger bone. Endocortical changes lead to a wider marrow space; however, during female puberty, the site-specific apposition of bone occurs ¹⁰⁸. A number of cross-sectional and longitudinal studies have shown that increased physical activity in growing children is associated with a higher areal BMD measured using DXA 60,61,89,90,96,101. Studies that have been performed using pQCT measurements ^{95,160} indicate that increased mechanical loading improves bone strength through cross-sectional geometry changes at the diaphyseal sites and through an increase in BMD at the epiphyseal sites. It has also been reported that sports activity during childhood and adolescence shows remaining bone geometry effects in young adulthood even though the sports activity has ceased ¹¹³. Even if there are adults who have been included in bed-rest studies ^{127,128} and space flight projects ⁷⁹ for investigations of the skeleton after a period of unloading or no gravitation, physical inactivity as an intervention in healthy children would probably be regarded as unethical. In a group of individuals, like DMD and Becker MD patients, where muscle activity decreases with time even though the patients are receiving the treatment of choice, it is, however, possible to study how bone develops with no, less or progressively decreasing muscular influence also in children. In contrast to studies of a sporting population, studies on a severe disabled population are more difficult to extrapolate to the general population as there may be several confounding factors (such as lack of nutrition, specific medication and/or selection bias due to small study groups). Despite these limitations, such studies, like Studies III and IV, can provide an insight into skeletal consequences resulting from loading or unloading. During a period of four years, the DMD patients lost more muscle strength and motor function compared with the Becker MD patients. This may have contributed to the lower increase, and even decrease, in BMD at certain sites, which was noted in the DMD patients.

Several authors have reported reduced BMD or BMC in children with different disabilities such as cerebral palsy 3,68 , myelomeningocele 6,7,10,120 and muscular dystrophies 5,15,88 . Both Aparicio and co-workers 5 and Larson and Henderson 88 demonstrated that DMD patients lose bone mass in the proximal femur while they are still ambulant, all of which agrees with the findings in Studies III and IV.

In their study of patients with spinal cord injuries, Giangregorio and McCartney ⁵¹ confirmed what is also seen in the clinical setting, that neuromuscular impairment from birth plays a vital role in the development of the size and shape of the bone in a different way compared with the situation when the impairment occurs later in life. Without normal neuromuscular stimuli the bone becomes thinner, more slender and shorter. Animal studies of hind limb unloading have underscored the importance of normal muscle function for the maintenance of bone mass ⁵⁹ and there are indications of the age-dependent effect of immobilisation and remobilisation on bone tissue ¹⁵¹. Eser and coworkers ³⁹ investigated spinal cord injured men, two months–50 years after injury. They observed an exponential decrease in different bone parameters, which reached steady states after 3-8 years. In the epiphyses, the loss of bone mass was lost due to the thinning of the cortical wall as a result of endosteal resorption.

The width of the bone is important for bone strength and the capacity of bone to withstand forces of different kinds ¹²⁶. In studies of bed-rest-induced bone losses, a recovery of bone mass has been observed when mobilisation is resumed ¹²⁷, which indicates that the adult skeleton also has the capability to adapt to mechanical stimuli. However, the degree to which bone mass can be recovered in adulthood is limited by the PBM reached during growth. Thus, achieving the optimal predisposed PBM and bone size during growth appears of utmost importance. In Studies III and IV, it was not feasible to evaluate whether or not or how the cross-sectional area of the bones in the muscular dystrophy patients change with age. This may be a limitation when studying this patient group and information relating to that dimension at least is missing. Nevertheless, the studies of DMD and Becker MD patients indicate that these patients achieve far from the expected optimal predisposed PBM as observed in healthy controls. This was particularly evident in the lower extremities, which are also the sites most affected by fractures.
The muscle and bone unit

In 2002, Schönau and co-workers ¹³⁸ proposed a two-step diagnostic algorithm to evaluate the clinical application of the muscle and bone relationship. In step 1, the question is whether *muscle mass is adequate for body height* and in step 2, the question is whether *BMC is adequate for muscle mass*. These questions form four diagnostic groups:

- 1) Normal system with normal muscle mass for body height and adequate BMC for that muscle mass.
- 2) **Primary bone defect** with normal muscle mass for body height, but the BMC is lower than expected for muscle mass.
- 3) Secondary bone defect with low muscle mass for body height, but the BMC is normally adapted to a smaller muscle mass and to a lower mechanical demand.
- 4) Mixed bone defect (primary and secondary) with low muscle mass for body height and lower BMC than expected for that reduced muscle mass.

According to this diagnostic algorithm it is important to have information on muscle function and muscle mass in addition to the information on bone mass. The studies of DMD and Becker MD patients in this thesis indicate a secondary bone defect, but there could also be some mixed bone defect, which the design of the studies is unable fully to demonstrate, due to confounding factors, for example, GC treatment.

It has been suggested that the insufficient increase in bone mass and longitudinal growth with age in the DMD patients could originate from the genetic deletion on the Xp21 gene ¹⁰⁷. However, to the author's knowledge, this theory has not yet been confirmed. Short stature is found in DMD patients, also without GC treatment, as shown by Nagel and co-workers ¹⁰⁷, who also found reduced bonespecific ALP (BALP), which could be a result of the reduced muscle mass and lower biomechanical load, which would lead to reduced bone turnover. However, they did not find any correlation between height and motor function and between height and BALP. They therefore concluded that short stature in DMD is unlikely to be a result of muscular weakness. In Study III, we found reduced bone turnover in the DMD patients compared with healthy age- and gender-matched controls. Furthermore, а significant correlation was demonstrated between both calcaneal BMD and Vignos grade, and calcaneal BMD and isometric muscle strength in the knee extensors in the DMD patients. These findings were confirmed in the four-year longitudinal study, where strong correlations were also found between hip BMD values and muscle function parameters.

In DMD patients, muscle strength is reduced very early, often before the disease is diagnosed. The DMD patients generally start to walk later than healthy children; this was also confirmed in the present study. During the first years of life, their muscle strength is sufficient to acquire new motor function skills, but with time their motor function is gradually impaired. The Vignos scale (Table 4) is a method for grading motor function and, even if it appears to be a crude measure, this grading effectively classifies the progress of the disease with time and has been used for several decades ¹⁵⁷. For the evaluation of muscle strength, the hand-held myometry is a well-accepted method in DMD patients. It has been shown to be a reliable tool in mentally retarded patients ¹⁴⁶, but the child still has to co-operate and the investigator needs to be experienced. In the present study, one experienced physiotherapist performed all these measurements.

Taken together, our results indicate that bone development during childhood and adolescence is likely to be affected by the muscular status in DMD patients, although firm evidence of causality could not be provided.

Other factors influencing bone

During the four-year longitudinal study period (Study IV), DMD patients appeared to form their own group in terms of the development of BMC in relation to lean mass (muscle mass) development (Figures 25-26). In this group, the relationship between muscle mass and BMC appears to be weaker with time. This may be explained by the fact that the contractility and strength per mass unit is lower in DMD patients, hence reducing the muscle mass influence on BMC development. At the same time, the insufficient increase in bone mass with age in the DMD patients could also be caused by other factors such as inadequate nutrition, vitamin D insufficiency and the GC treatment. Study III indicated that the DMD patients received too little nutritional energy, protein, fat and carbohydrate compared with recommended daily intake (RDI) in Sweden. The vitamin D intake was more satisfactory, with 94% of the RDI in the DMD patients. Nevertheless, Studies III and IV indicated that DMD patients, as well as Becker MD patients, had low vitamin D (25(OH) D) levels. which could have a direct impact on the mineralisation of newly synthesised osteoid within bone, as well as affecting the muscle strength in these

patients^{44,45,66,71}. The definition of 25(OH) D-insufficiency is, however, still unclear. It has been suggested that the diagnosis of vitamin D insufficiency (25(OH) D levels of < 30 µg/L) should be based on the physiological response/elevation of PTH ⁶⁶. Others ⁷¹ concur, that serum 25(OH) D levels of < 20 µg/L should be regarded as vitamin D deficiency. In the studies III and IV, the 25(OH) D levels were not sufficiently reduced to cause elevated PTH levels for most patients, and this might be due to the adequate daily intake of calcium.

Biochemical markers of bone metabolism

The diagnostic role of bone turnover markers in bone diseases or during growth is still not fully established, but bone turnover is reflected through different levels of bone formation markers and bone resorption markers, which were analysed in Studies III and IV. The results indicated a reduction in bone turnover in the DMD group. In contrast to our findings, Bianchi and co-workers ¹⁵ measured OC and urinary NTX (a marker of bone resorption) and interpreted their results as increased bone turnover in DMD patients and particularly in those treated with GC. However, values for urinary NTX are dependent on urinary creatinine and muscle mass. Since DMD patients have reduced muscle mass, urinary creatinine will be markedly decreased ⁵⁸, and this may thereby entail falsely elevated NTX values. Serum CTX, which is not dependent on urinary creatinine or muscle mass, therefore reflects the activity of bone resorption more accurately than urinary markers of bone resorption in DMD patients. In Study III, the CTX levels indicated that there was reduced bone resorption in the DMD patients compared with healthy individuals. The treatment with GC may have contributed to the reduced bone turnover, as shown previously by Ton and co-workers ¹⁵⁰. The disease itself, with the weaker muscles triggering lower strain and less mechanical loading on the skeleton, may also have contributed to the reduction in bone remodelling and modelling in the DMD patients.

Fractures in children

Before the 1980s, little attention was paid to fractures in children. In 1983, Landin performed a very thorough study of fracture patterns in children in southern Sweden ⁸⁷. This study is still most frequently cited in new studies of fractures in children and, in the last few decades, an increasing number of studies discussing fracture risk in childhood ⁵⁷, epidemiology ³¹, cause, treatment

and prevention 25 and the risk of future fracture after a childhood fracture have been published $^{119}\!.$

Goulding reported that 19.8% of children accounted for 66% of all fractures during childhood and adolescence ⁵⁷. The reasons for this can only be speculated on, but an inherent skeletal weakness or lower bone mineralisation, low physical activity, high risk-taking behaviour or abnormal body weight could underlie the results. That study does not, however, report the kind of trauma causing fracture, the localisation of fractures, whether new fractures in the same individual are located in the same or another extremity or how much time has passed between two fractures in these individuals. All this can certainly influence the risk of repeated fractures.

An association has been suggested between fracture and low BMD in childhood ^{28,29} as well as in adulthood ⁷⁷ and it has also been suggested that there is an increased risk of fracture associated with neuromuscular diseases ¹⁵⁶. Vestergaard and co-workers reported a similar risk of fracture in individuals with muscular dystrophy or muscular atrophy (RR=1.9) as Goulding and co-workers reported in healthy children when it came to experiencing a second fracture ⁵⁷. In our studies of DMD and Becker MD patients, 25% of the DMD patients had experienced one or more fractures in the cross-sectional baseline study. At follow-up, the fracture rate was 39% in the DMD group, which is similar to the results of a previous Swedish study of healthy children 87. In the Becker MD group the incidence of fractures was 67%. This patient group was, however, small (n=6), but if this figure also holds true in a larger sample, the high fracture incidence could possibly be due to weaker bone in a still relatively physically active group. The question of whether or not these patients have osteoporosis still remains unanswered. According to the ISCD 2007 Pediatric Official Positions of the International Society for Clinical Densitometry ¹²³, Study IV would leave only two DMD patients with a required type of fracture and Zscores less than or equal to -2.0, who would consequently be regarded as having osteoporosis. Nevertheless, a retrospective chart review (n=143) revealed that patients with DMD on long-term corticosteroid treatment ran an increased risk of vertebral and lower limb fractures compared with steroid-naïve patients ⁸⁵. As other authors have previously reported ^{88,156}, we also observed that the majority of fractures in the DMD patients were located in the lower extremities. This differed clearly from the healthy control group, where the majority of fractures occurred in the upper extremities. This difference may be caused by the weakness in the lower extremities that appears at an earlier stage compared with

the rest of the body in DMD and Becker MD patients. This goes hand in hand with the observations that BMD was particularly reduced in the lower extremities and even showed a tendency to decrease with increasing age in the DMD patients.

Osteoporosis in children is still not clearly defined. The definition of "true osteoporosis" suggested by Frost ⁴⁶, certainly makes sense; however, that definition does not facilitate the prediction of fractures. Who knows when a bone is weaker than it should be for its daily usage, prior to a fracture?

Limitations

Clinical non-intervention studies are generally based on associations, making it complicated firmly to establish causality in several situations. Further, studying human beings, as compared to experimental animals, is invariably associated with large biological variation which in turn requires large samples. In this respect, studying rare disorders poses limitations. In spite of the fact that DMD is the most common muscular dystrophy, it is still a rare disorder. Becker MD is even more uncommon. Moreover, with age, the DMD patients in particular are often severely hampered by the disease, making it difficult for them to take part in a clinical study or trial. As a result, few patients were available for the studies of DMD and Becker MD (Studies III and IV). Small study populations complicate the statistics and set the limits for the interpretation and generalisation of the results.

Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) is an indirect, two-dimensional imaging technique for measuring bone mass in the three-dimensional bone. Using this technique, it is therefore not possible exactly to study the bone geometry or the true BMD, both of which are important for bone strength and are influenced by growth and physical activity, for example. This limits every study including DXA measurements and all the studies in this thesis.

In growing individuals, every part of the body changes in form and size with time, which makes interpretation of DXA measurements more difficult. As a result, age, height, weight, puberty and bone age all influence the results of a DXA measurement. In this thesis, the DXA and DXL results were not adjusted for bone age, height, or weight, which limits the opportunity to compare individuals of different size or age. For DXL measurements, it was suggested to calculate the BMAD (mg/cm³) (the areal BMD (g/cm²) value was divided by the

height (cm) of the calcaneal bone) in an attempt to adjust for different heel bone sizes in Study I.

Performing whole-body DXA measurements in individuals with different disorders or disabilities is challenging. Not every individual was able to accomplish a full whole-body DXA measurement for several different reasons, such as joint contractures and metallic implants. This was especially relevant in Studies II-IV. However, it was possible to perform heel bone measurements of all individuals in these studies, using the DXL Calscan.

DXA and DXL are methods with high accuracy; however, the intra-individual variation between measurements may differ and this then produces a considerable coefficient of variation (CV%). This is seen in particular in the peripheral measurements of the body, where bone mass values are small. Measuring the heel bone in young children with small bones and small amounts of bone mass therefore implies the risk of a higher CV%, which was also observed in Study I. A high CV% will set the limit for discovering changes during follow-up studies. This may be one reason why significant changes in heel bone BMD were not discovered during the DMD and Becker MD follow-up study (Study IV).

There are many possible ways of matching DMD patients with healthy controls; they include weight, height, BMI, testis size, bone age, muscle strength, motor function, Tanner stage, gender and age. Matching for all these parameters would have been better (Study III), but we choose gender and age. Matching for age makes it possible to follow the development of the group over time. As the disease progresses, it is of interest to compare the individuals in this way. We would have liked to match for developmental parameters (for example height and weight) as well, but that would have required screening of a large number of individuals to find the right matching controls.

The fact that we did not perform a spinal radiograph on the study individuals in order to evaluate vertebral fractures could be a limitation in Studies III and IV. However, among our DMD patients in Study III, 12 patients and all the non-ambulant boys had been investigated with spinal radiographs in connection with clinical follow-up within one year before inclusion and no vertebral fractures were reported. During the follow-up (Study IV), one vertebral fracture was reported.

Furthermore, we did not have a well-defined patient group without GC treatment, which made it difficult to determine whether some results in Studies III and IV were due to GC or to the muscular dystrophy itself.

Another limitation in Studies III and IV could have been that the patients differed in age and disability; however, this was part of the study outcome.

In Study IV, the Becker MD patients were generally older than the DMD patients, which made it impossible correctly to compare Becker MD with all DMD patients. The DMD group was therefore broken down into two subgroups; one below and one above 10 years of age. For these comparisons, Study IV was limited to the smaller population of Becker MD patients.

Future perspective

During the work on this thesis, I have had the opportunity to become well acquainted with the patients with Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophies and their parents. I have encountered an impressive joy of life and a positive attitude to life in these families, even though they are confronted by a severe and life-threatening disorder. In the future, both patients and physicians will be looking for new treatment alternatives to better preserve or improve muscle function in muscular dystrophy patients. This future approach includes genetic studies and the possibility of novel gene therapies.

When it comes to bone densitometry, future studies should include precision studies in children at different ages, adolescents and adults with different kinds of disability, to investigate which method is the most suitable for these individuals.

The development of normative data based on larger samples of healthy children and adolescents representing all ages is of particular importance for every bone densitometry technique. Representative reference data will provide a better opportunity to interpret measurements in paediatric patients.

The calculation of SD scores for paediatric bone densitometry reference data should be performed. This is particularly important for the evaluation of measurement results when very low or very high values are outside the reference population distribution (i.e. > 100^{th} percentile or < 0^{th} percentile) and for the longitudinal follow-up of children. Future studies should therefore extend the

SD scores for bone densitometry data produced by the DXL Calscan device from 10 years of age up to PBM.

For DMD and Becker MD patients and other similar patient groups, longitudinal studies using pQCT and QCT techniques will reveal further information on skeletal development in the event of progressive or manifest muscular impairment during growth.

Randomised, controlled intervention studies applying increased physical activity or skeletal loading should investigate whether or not, and how, it is possible to improve bone strength in children with disabilities. The muscular and skeletal effects of low-frequency vibration training in DMD patients could be investigated, for example.

The present study indicates that patients with DMD have reduced bone turnover compared with healthy individuals. This could be due to the disease itself with weaker muscles triggering lower strain and less mechanical loading on the skeleton; however, the GC treatment could also have this effect on the skeleton. Future studies should focus on new information relating to the total effect of GC treatment in DMD patients, including the muscular effect, the skeletal effect and the bone- and muscle-unit effect. The reduced bone turnover may indicate that medical treatment with drugs, such as bisphosphonates, should not be used in these patients. However, very soon after beginning the GC treatment, the bone turnover in these patients may be increased and, within this initial therapeutic phase, bisphosphonates may be indicated for a shorter period to prevent vertebral fractures in particular.

It appears to be highly relevant to analyse the way in which the information from DXA and DXL measurements overlap with the information from QCT and pQCT measurements. It is often not possible to perform several different measurements in the clinical setting. It could therefore be valuable to study the way in which these techniques are complementary and when one of the techniques is to be preferred.

It is also important to create ROC curves to determine the sensitivity and specificity of standard DXA and DXL measurements of aBMD and BMAD; QCT and pQCT measures of vBMD and bone dimensions in the discrimination of fracture from non-fracture cases.

In the continuous work in this field, it would be desirable to establish clinical guidelines considering children who warrant bone densitometry and the way the measurements that are obtained should be handled. The important future questions are; at what levels is treatment needed and which treatment should be given, how and when? Improved guidelines can probably be best accomplished by larger studies, with long follow-up and including information on specific disorders, fractures and medical treatment. This would most probably improve the potential for predicting fracture risk in children.

Conclusions

- The DXL Calscan method for bone densitometry is quick, convenient, and easy to use in children, even in children as young as two years of age and in children with disabling conditions.
- Reference data for calcaneal BMC, BMD and BMAD in children aged two, four and seven were produced and presented as percentile values. Additional data promoted the presentation of reference curves as the mean ± 2 SD in children aged two to 10 years, for girls and boys respectively. These curves can be used for further research and in the clinical setting.
- High correlations were found between whole-body DXA BMD measurements at different sites and heel DXL BMD measurements. Receiver operating characteristics revealed both high sensitivity levels and high specificity levels at different sites, indicating that the lowest 25th percentile of the DXA measurements can be classified by the heel DXL measurements with a high reliability.
- Patients with DMD demonstrated lower BMD and BMC values compared with healthy age- and gender-matched controls. DMD patients showed less increase in BMD with increasing age as well as a decrease in the hip BMD values with time.
- The DMD patients also demonstrated generally lower BMD values and poorer bone mass accrual compared with patients with the milder Becker MD. The Becker MD patients, in turn, demonstrated lower BMD values compared with healthy controls, however not to the same degree as the DMD patients.

Conclusions

- DMD patients displayed reduced bone turnover as compared with healthy age- and gender-matched controls.
- The fracture rate in the DMD patients was no higher than in the healthy control group; however, in the DMD patients, the fractures were more frequently located in the lower extremities.
- The reduced BMD in both DMD and Becker MD patients was strongly correlated with the degree of muscular dystrophy, motor function and muscle strength. The lower extremities in particular are affected at an early stage, indicating the importance of site-specific information on bone mass development and that interventions aimed at strengthening this site could prove valuable.
- This thesis indicates the importance of a normally and adequately functioning muscle tissue for an optimal development of the skeleton.

Summary in Swedish (sammanfattning på svenska)

Bakgrund

Under tillväxten i barndomen grundläggs en stor del av den skelettvävnad, som vi skall leva på och av under vårt resterande liv. Många faktorer påverkar skelettet under livet, där ärftlighet är en av de mest betydelsefulla, men där även nutrition, hormoner, fysisk aktivitet, viss medicinering och vissa sjukdomar kan ha avgörande betydelse. Duchennes muskeldystrofi (DMD), som är en Xkromosom-bunden sjukdom och som bara drabbar pojkar, innebär tilltagande muskelsvaghet med tilltagande svårighet att gå och i tidiga tonår blir dessa barn beroende av rullstol. Muskelsvagheten leder till minskad belastning på skelettet och risk för utveckling av skört skelett, som i sin tur innebär ökad risk för frakturer. För att kunna följa skelettets utveckling hos barn krävs enkla och smidiga metoder, som barn tolererar, men samtidigt mätinstrument med god precision och noggrannhet. Att mäta bentäthet hos barn är en utmaning, eftersom skelettet ändrar form och storlek kontinuerligt, vilket försvårar tolkningen av mätresultat. Vilken metod som är den mest lämpliga för bentäthetsmätning hos barn är omdebatterat.

Syfte

Avhandlingsarbetets syfte var att utvärdera en ny röntgenmetod, DXL Calscan (dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry och laser), för bentäthetsmätning i hälbenet hos barn och ungdomar, att undersöka metodens användbarhet vid undersökning av mycket unga barn och barn med sjukdomar och funktionshinder, och att upprätta ett pediatriskt referensmaterial för hälens bentäthet. Vidare syftade arbetet till att genomföra en kartläggning av benhälsan hos pojkar med sjukdomen DMD och att studera hur olika faktor inverkar på skelettets utveckling i denna population.

Metodik

Inledningsvis utfördes en noggrann genomgång av en sedan tidigare befintlig metod, DXL Calscan, avsedd för bentäthetsmätning i hälbenet hos vuxna. Genom metodutveckling kunde röntgentekniken anpassas för barn, med sänkt strömstyrka och minskad stråldos, och vidare utveckling av ett fotstöd för att kunna placera även de minsta fötterna korrekt. DXL Calscan för barn användes därefter genomgående i samtliga studier.

Studie I

För att upprätta ett pediatriskt referensmaterial för bentäthet i hälbenet undersöktes 334 friska svenska barn i respektive åldrar; 2, 4 och 7 år. Upprepade mätningar utfördes dels på en konstgjord "referens-fot" (så kallad fantommätning), dels på 23-27 barn i varje åldersgrupp för att kunna beräkna metodens noggrannhet och mätningarnas variabilitet. För att kunna uppskatta tillväxtens inflytande på det uppmätta bentäthetsvärdet (BMD – bone mineral density), utarbetades en möjlighet att mäta hälbenets höjd på röntgenbilden. Då detta höjdmått dividerades med BMD, kunde ett storleksjusterat bentäthetsvärde (BMAD – bone mineral apparent density) beräknas.

Studie II

För ytterligare utvärdering av DXL metoden jämfördes hälbensmätningar med mätningar från andra delar av kroppen samt helkroppsmätningar utförda med DXA (dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry), vilket sedan längre tid ansetts vara "gold standard" för bentäthetsmätning. För denna studie samlades data in från tre separata studier, där samtliga individer under en och samma dag genomgått undersökning med både häl-DXL och helkropps-DXA. I studien undersöktes 112 personer (2-21 år); vissa individer undersöktes ytterligare en gång efter ett år, vilket medförde att totalt 128 mätningar med de bägge teknikerna kunde jämföras.

Studie III

I denna tvärsnittsstudie jämfördes 24 pojkar med DMD (2-20 år) med en kontrollgrupp bestående av 24 åldersmatchade friska pojkar. Grupperna undersöktes avseende benmassa, kroppskonstitution och hormoner. Dessutom analyserades specifika markörer i blodet för bedömning av skelettets omsättning (nedbrytning respektive uppbyggnad).

Studie IV

En uppföljningsstudie, där 18 pojkar med DMD från Studie III och sex pojkar med Beckers muskeldystrofi (MD) undersöktes på nytt efter fyra år. Beckers MD innebär en skada på samma gen som vid DMD, men gendefekten är av ett mildare slag, varför sjukdomsförloppet också är mildare och dessa pojkar behåller alltid gångförmågan över 16 års ålder. Dessa två patientgrupper kontrollerades longitudinellt och jämfördes avseende utveckling av benmassa, kroppskonstitution, motorisk funktion och muskelstyrka.

Resultat

Mätningar av hälbenets bentäthet med DXL Calscan var lätta att utföra på barn och ungdomar, även på barn i mycket låg ålder (2 år) och på barn med funktionshinder. Studie I presenterar normaldata i percentiler för BMD, BMC (bone mineral content) och BMAD för barn i åldrarna 2, 4 och 7. BMD korrelerade signifikant med ålder, längd och vikt. BMAD var i lägre grad associerat till ålder, längd och vikt, vilket indikerar att detta mått kan vara användbart då man följer individer under tillväxt och vid mätning av olika stora individer.

Tillägg av data från uppföljande årliga mätningar av drygt 30 % av barnen från varje åldersgrupp i Studie I, under ytterligare två år, medgav konstruktion av referenskurvor (medelvärde ± 2 standarddeviationer) för flickor respektive pojkar i åldrarna 2-10 år. Dessa referenskurvor baseras på totalt 645 hälbensmätningar (328 flickor/317 pojkar) med DXL Calscan.

Resultat av Studie II indikerade en hög överensstämmelse mellan bentäthetsvärden uppmätta med DXL-teknik i hälbenet och värden uppmätta med DXA-teknik vid både helkroppsmätning och mätning av ländryggen, men framför allt beträffande bentäthetsvärden uppmätta i höften. Studie II visade vidare, att det med hög tillförlitlighet går att förutspå låga värden vid en DXAmätning av hela kroppen, ländryggen eller höften, genom att utföra en DXLmätning av hälbenet.

Patienter med DMD uppvisade generellt lägre bentäthetsvärden jämfört med friska ålders- och könsmatchade kontroller. Skillnaden i bentäthet mellan dessa grupper ökade med ökande ålder och detta var framför allt tydligt i höft och häl. Patienterna uppvisade en sänkt benomsättning, det vill säga sänkt såväl formation som nedbrytning av ben, jämfört med de friska kontrollerna. Man kunde inte finna någon skillnad i antalet frakturer som drabbat de bägge grupperna, men patienterna hade oftare brutit sig i de nedre extremiteterna, jämfört med de friska kontrollerna, som oftare brutit sig i de övre extremiteterna.

Patienter med DMD uppvisade även generellt lägre bentäthetsvärden jämfört med patienter med Beckers MD, vilka dock i sin tur uppvisade lägre bentäthetsvärden jämfört med friska ålders- och könsmatchade kontroller, dock inte lika uttalat som patienterna med DMD. Långtidsuppföljningen visade på en signifikant minskning av bentätheten i höften hos patienterna med DMD med ökande ålder. Studien visade på en stark association mellan bentäthetvärden uppmätta i de nedre extremiteterna och muskelstyrka, tillika motorisk funktion.

Slutsatser

DXL Calscan är en användbar teknik för bentäthetsmätning på barn även i låga åldrar och på barn med funktionshinder. Mätning av bentäthet i hälbenet kan indikera en allmän risk för benskörhet, eftersom det är möjligt att med DXLteknik identifiera individer, som uppvisar låga bentäthetsvärden vid helkropps-DXA-mätning. Barn med motoriskt funktionshinder, av typen Duchennes muskeldystrofi, utvecklar under uppväxten ett tunnare skelett i förhållande till motoriskt friska barn till följd av minskad kraftutveckling och belastning på skelettet. Graden av funktionshinder har stor betydelse för skelettets utveckling och beroende på funktionshindrets art blir vissa delar i skelettet mer benägna att utveckla benskörhet än andra.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to the many persons without whom this thesis never would have been possible, for their work and encouragement. In particular I wish to thank:

Diana Swolin-Eide, MD, PhD, my tutor and friend, for introducing me to the bone field and to science, for your encouragement and enthusiasm, for all funny moments putting up the DXL method, for your support and for your true belief in doing good for patients through research.

Jon Karlsson, MD, professor, my co-tutor, orthopaedic colleague and friend, for professional guidance in the clinics and scientific matters, for your never-ending enthusiasm for research, for your impressive capacity and your round-the-clock absolutely-on-top support.

Kerstin Albertsson Wikland, MD, professor, my co-tutor and friend, for introducing me to science, for support, for valuable advice and kind, constructive criticism.

Per Magnusson, associate professor, my co-author and friend, for professional guidance in the bone marker field, for fruitful scientific discussions, encouragement, endless patience, support and invaluable help in preparing this work.

Ragnar Kullenberg, PhD, my co-author and friend, for your creativity in inventing the DXL Calscan device and for support and valuable scientific discussions.

Mar Tulinius, MD, professor, **Anne-Christine Åhlander**, MD, PhD, and **Anna-Karin Kroksmark** PT, PhD, my co-authors, for friendship, support and valuable discussions throughout the work on Duchenne muscular dystrophy.

Anne Dohse, for assuming so much responsibility in the "bone-measurement room" and invaluable help with DXL and DXA measurements throughout the years, for your friendship and encouragement.

Nils-Gunnar Persson, Gunnar Ekeroth, Mattias Molin and Aldina Pivodic, for invaluable help with statistical questions.

Roland Thomeé PT, associate professor, and **Pia Thomeé** PT, PhD, for friendship, enjoyable scientific discussions and valuable help with a lot of everything. I especially want to thank you, Roland, for your time and patience, when preparing the layout of this book.

Bengt I Eriksson, MD, professor, colleague and friend, for invaluable scientific advice, deep discussions and some salsa dancing.

Ulrika Sterky, for your obliging manner, friendship and valuable help in preparing all the blood samples.

Tommy Hansson, MD, professor, for valuable advice and constructive criticism and for sharing some of your knowledge on earlier bone densitometry technologies.

Björn Rydevik, MD, professor, for your constant kind and friendly attitude, for your professional scientific guidance and for providing the opportunity to do this work.

Jovanna Dahlgren, MD, associate professor, for support and friendship, for valuable advice and constructive criticism.

Katarina Nilsson-Helander, MD, PhD, for a close and wonderful friendship, days and nights full of laughter, all the talking (sometimes about science) and everything else. I am so grateful to you.

Fredrik Einarsson, MD, PhD, colleague and friend, for valuable discussions concerning not only research through the years.

The "Gran Canaria research group" for making January a very nice month for several years.

Ninni Sernert, PT, associate professor, for support and friendship and for letting me stay in your house during the autumn of 2007.

Colleagues at the Orthopaedic Clinic in Borås, for first introducing me to orthopaedic surgery.

All the colleagues who over the years have been a part of the Children's Orthopaedic Team at Östra Hospital; I especially want to thank Bertil Romanus, MD, associate professor, Ragnar Jerre, MD, associate professor, Aina Danielsson, MD, associate professor, Andreas Runge, MD, Paula Berg, MD, and Ola Bing, MD. I am really grateful for your support and encouragement. Only with your help and effort was it possible for me to take time off from the clinical work to complete this thesis.

Colleagues in the **Children's Orthopaedic Surgery Trauma Team**, Queen Silvia's Hospital for friendship and great support.

All the staff at the Orthopaedic Department, especially the Orthopaedic Outdoor Clinic and our secretaries, Åsa Nordmark and Maile Gröndahl at Östra Hospital, and the Queen Silvia's Hospital for making a day at work a joy, and all the staff at GP-GRC for help with something of everything through the years.

All the staff at the **Children's Habilitation Centre**; I especially want to thank **Barbro Westerberg**, MD, PhD, for being a wonderful person and an expert physician, for guidance in the neurological field through the years.

Linda Johansson, for kind support and invaluable help in all kinds of practical matters.

Marlene Mussmann, for kind help with administrative matters at the Pediatric Department.

Ann-Sofie Pettersson, for always having time to lend a helping hand with poster preparations and other practical things.

Jeanette Kliger, for excellent language revision.

Annette Dahlström, for professional illustrations.

Eve-Lotte, Maude and Krystyna at the Medical Library, SU/Östra Hospital, for always being so kind and helpful.

Anders Oldfors, MD, professor, for performing all the immunohistochemical analyses on the muscular dystrophy patients.

Anette Ekberg, for your friendly attitude and valuable help in preparing the transport of blood samples to Linköping.

All the, nowadays, ladies in "Spinnarna"; Maria Berggren, Helene Brandrup-Wognsen, Susanne Ellbjär, Ingalill Friis-Liby, Marie Sverkersdotter, Ulrika Wall and Christina Ysander, for "womanising" the world, for wonderful friendship full of joy and laughter, for your cheerful support and for all your extraordinarily nice partners.

My colleague **Olof Lundin**, MD, PhD, and **Mona Lundin**, dear friends, for being an incessant source of inspiration, for support and encouragement and for all the "hole-in-nines".

Bollebygds Idrottsförening, Bollebygds Budo-Kai and the City Gym in Göteborg, for providing me with the opportunity to keep my BMD at an optimal level.

Gaddenskolan, for being an important part of my life and for keeping our children safe at school.

Eva Bengtsson, for friendship and wonderful co-operation within the school health care at Änglagårdsskolan.

All friends in Bollebygd, for wonderful friendship, a lot of laughter and nice times together and always being there when needed for our children during the years; especially **Gunilla and Anders Eliasson**, **Anki and Mikael Standar**, **Ulrika Andreasson and Lars Wiss** and **Eva and Robert Sellgren**.

The carpenters Tommy and Olle for helping us build a new home up the hill in Bollebygd; you added to my biomechanics.

My mother, **Ros-Marie and Björn**, my father, **Lars-Göran and Margaretha**, my mother-in-law **Inga-Maj and Ulf**, my recently deceased farther-in-law, for everything you have done for me. Words are not enough.

My sister, Marie-Louise and her family, and my sister-in-law, Karin and Peter and their family, for many happy, nice moments, for encouragement and support.

Josefin, Carl and Erik, the meaning of life, for your love and wonderful friendship, for your happiness, enthusiasm and encouragement, which eventually helped me complete this work.

Bosse, my everything, my beloved and best friend, for being not only a great scientist and physician but also a wonderful father and husband, for sharing the life with me, for your endless love, encouragement and never-ending belief in me.

All the participants for spending so much time in the "bone-measurement room" and for making the studies possible.

This study was supported by grants from the Swedish Society of Medicine, the Göteborg Medical Society, the Majblomman Foundation, the Folke Bernadotte Foundation, the Swedish Association of Persons with Neurological Disabilities and the Government under the LUA agreement.

References

- 1. Osteoporos prevention, diagnostik och behandling. Swedish National Institute of Public Health; 2003.
- 2. Adami S, Gatti D, Braga V, Bianchini D, Rossini M. Site-specific effects of strength training on bone structure and geometry of ultradistal radius in postmenopausal women. J Bone Miner Res 1999;14(1):120-4.
- 3. Ali O, Shim M, Fowler E, Cohen P, Oppenheim W. Spinal bone mineral density, IGF-1 and IGFBP-3 in children with cerebral palsy. Horm Res 2007;68(6):316-20.
- 4. Ankarberg-Lindgren C, Norjavaara E. Changes of diurnal rhythm and levels of total and free testosterone secretion from pre to late puberty in boys: testis size of 3 ml is a transition stage to puberty. Eur J Endocrinol 2004;151(6):747-57.
- 5. Aparicio LF, Jurkovic M, DeLullo J. Decreased bone density in ambulatory patients with duchenne muscular dystrophy. J Pediatr Orthop 2002;22(2):179-81.
- 6. Apkon SD. Osteoporosis in children who have disabilities. Phys Med Rehabil Clin N Am 2002;13(4):839-55.
- 7. Apkon SD, Fenton L, Coll JR. Bone mineral density in children with myelomeningocele. Dev Med Child Neurol 2009;51(1):63-7.
- 8. Atroshi I, Ahlander F, Billsten M, Ahlborg HG, Mellstrom D, Ohlsson C, Ljunggren O, Karlsson MK. Low calcaneal bone mineral density and the risk of distal forearm fracture in women and men: a population-based case-control study. Bone 2009;45(4):789-93.
- 9. Aubin JE, Heersche JNM. Bone Cell Biology Osteblasts, Osteocytes, and Osteoclasts. In: Glorieux FH, editor. Pediatric Bone Biology and Disease. San Diego, California: Academic Press; 2003. p 43-75.
- Ausili E, Focarelli B, Tabacco F, Fortunelli G, Caradonna P, Massimi L, Sigismondi M, Salvaggio E, Rendeli C. Bone mineral density and body composition in a myelomeningocele children population: effects of walking ability and sport activity. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 2008;12(6):349-54.
- 11. Backman E, Johansson V, Hager B, Sjoblom P, Henriksson KG. Isometric muscle strength and muscular endurance in normal persons aged between 17 and 70 years. Scand J Rehabil Med 1995;27(2):109-17.

- 12. Backman E, Odenrick P, Henriksson KG, Ledin T. Isometric muscle force and anthropometric values in normal children aged between 3.5 and 15 years. Scand J Rehabil Med 1989;21(2):105-14.
- 13. Bailey DA, McKay HA, Mirwald RL, Crocker PR, Faulkner RA. A sixyear longitudinal study of the relationship of physical activity to bone mineral accrual in growing children: the university of Saskatchewan bone mineral accrual study. J Bone Miner Res 1999;14(10):1672-9.
- 14. Bartley MH, Jr., Arnold JS, Haslam RK, Jee WS. The relationship of bone strength and bone quantity in health, disease, and aging. J Gerontol 1966;21(4):517-21.
- 15. Bianchi ML, Mazzanti A, Galbiati E, Saraifoger S, Dubini A, Cornelio F, Morandi L. Bone mineral density and bone metabolism in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Osteoporos Int 2003;14(9):761-7.
- Biggar WD, Bachrach LK, Henderson RC, Kalkwarf H, Plotkin H, Wong BL. Bone health in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: a workshop report from the meeting in Cincinnati, Ohio, July 8, 2004. Neuromuscul Disord 2005;15(1):80-5.
- Binkley TL, Specker BL, Wittig TA. Centile curves for bone densitometry measurements in healthy males and females ages 5-22 yr. J Clin Densitom 2002;5(4):343-53.
- 18. Black DM, Bouxsein ML, Marshall LM, Cummings SR, Lang TF, Cauley JA, Ensrud KE, Nielson CM, Orwoll ES. Proximal femoral structure and the prediction of hip fracture in men: a large prospective study using QCT. J Bone Miner Res 2008;23(8):1326-33.
- 19. Blum WF, Breier BH. Radioimmunoassays for IGFs and IGFBPs. Growth Regul 1994;4 Suppl 1:11-9.
- 20. Bolotin HH. DXA in vivo BMD methodology: an erroneous and misleading research and clinical gauge of bone mineral status, bone fragility, and bone remodelling. Bone 2007;41(1):138-54.
- Boot AM, de Ridder MA, Pols HA, Krenning EP, de Muinck Keizer-Schrama SM. Bone mineral density in children and adolescents: relation to puberty, calcium intake, and physical activity. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1997;82(1):57-62.
- 22. Borgstrom F. Osteoporosis in health economic perspective. Lakartidningen 2006;103(40):2963-5.
- 23. Canalis E, Bilezikian JP, Angeli A, Giustina A. Perspectives on glucocorticoid-induced osteoporosis. Bone 2004;34(4):593-8.
- 24. Carter DR, Bouxsein ML, Marcus R. New approaches for interpreting projected bone densitometry data. J Bone Miner Res 1992;7(2):137-45.

- 25. Chalmers DJ, Hume PA, Wilson BD. Trampolines in New Zealand: a decade of injuries. Br J Sports Med 1994;28(4):234-8.
- 26. Chinn DJ, Fordham JN, Kibirige MS, Crabtree NJ, Venables J, Bates J, Pitcher O. Bone density at the os calcis: reference values, reproducibility, and effects of fracture history and physical activity. Arch Dis Child 2005;90(1):30-5.
- 27. Cioffi M, Corradino M, Gazzerro P, Vietri MT, Di Macchia C, Contursi A, Colicigno R, Catalano T, Molinari AM. Serum concentrations of intact parathyroid hormone in healthy children. Clin Chem 2000;46(6 Pt 1):863-4.
- 28. Clark EM, Ness AR, Bishop NJ, Tobias JH. Association between bone mass and fractures in children: a prospective cohort study. J Bone Miner Res 2006;21(9):1489-95.
- 29. Clark EM, Tobias JH, Ness AR. Association between bone density and fractures in children: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Pediatrics 2006;117(2):e291-7.
- Cohran VC, Griffiths M, Heubi JE. Bone mineral density in children exposed to chronic glucocorticoid therapy. Clin Pediatr (Phila) 2008;47(5):469-75.
- 31. Cooper C, Dennison EM, Leufkens HG, Bishop N, van Staa TP. Epidemiology of childhood fractures in Britain: a study using the general practice research database. J Bone Miner Res 2004;19(12):1976-81.
- 32. Crabtree NJ, Leonard MB, Zemel BS. Dual-Energy X-ray Absorptionmetry. In: Sawyer AJ, Bachrach LK, Fung EB, editors. Bone Densitometry in Growing Patients, Guidelines for Clinical Practice. Totowa, New Jersey, USA: Humana Press; 2007. p 41-57.
- 33. Crofton PM, Stirling HF, Kelnar CJ. Bone alkaline phosphatase and height velocity in short normal children undergoing growth-promoting treatments: longitudinal study. Clin Chem 1995;41(5):672-8.
- 34. Dalen N, Hellstrom LG, Jacobson B. Bone mineral content and mechanical strength of the femoral neck. Acta Orthop Scand 1976;47(5):503-8.
- 35. Demers LM. Clinical usefulness of markers of bone degradation and formation. Scand J Clin Lab Invest Suppl 1997;227:12-20.
- 36. Dilber C, Dagdemir A, Albayrak D, Albayrak S, Kalayci AG, Aliyazicioglu Y, Basoglu T. Reduced bone mineral density in childhood chronic idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura treated with high-dose methylprednisolone. Bone 2004;35(1):306-11.

- Dubowitz V. The muscular dystrophies. In: Dubowitz V, editor. Muscle disorders in childhood. London: Saunders; 1995. p 34-79.
- 38. Emery AE, Emery ML. Edward Meryon (1809-1880) and muscular dystrophy. J Med Genet 1993;30(6):506-11.
- 39. Eser P, Frotzler A, Zehnder Y, Wick L, Knecht H, Denoth J, Schiessl H. Relationship between the duration of paralysis and bone structure: a pQCT study of spinal cord injured individuals. Bone 2004;34(5):869-80.
- 40. Faulkner KG, McClung MR, Coleman LJ, Kingston-Sandahl E. Quantitative ultrasound of the heel: correlation with densitometric measurements at different skeletal sites. Osteoporos Int 1994;4(1):42-7.
- 41. Faulkner RA, Davison KS, Bailey DA, Mirwald RL, Baxter-Jones AD. Size-corrected BMD decreases during peak linear growth: implications for fracture incidence during adolescence. J Bone Miner Res 2006;21(12):1864-70.
- 42. Fontaine R, Herrmann LG. Post-Traumatic Painful Osteoporosis. Ann Surg 1933;97(1):26-61.
- 43. Formica C, Loro ML, Gilsanz V, Seeman E. Inhomogeneity in body fat distribution may result in inaccuracy in the measurement of vertebral bone mass. J Bone Miner Res 1995;10(10):1504-11.
- 44. Francis RM. What do we currently know about nutrition and bone health in relation to United Kingdom public health policy with particular reference to calcium and vitamin D? Br J Nutr 2008;99(1):155-9.
- 45. Francis RM, Anderson FH, Patel S, Sahota O, van Staa TP. Calcium and vitamin D in the prevention of osteoporotic fractures. Qjm 2006;99(6):355-63.
- 46. Frost HM. The Utah Paradigm of Skeletal Physiology. Athens, Greece: International Society of Musculoskeletal and Neuronal Interactions; 2004.
- Frost HM, Schonau E. The "muscle-bone unit" in children and adolescents: a 2000 overview. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab 2000;13(6):571-90.
- 48. Garn SM. An annotated bibliography on bone densitometry. Am J Clin Nutr 1962;10:59-67.
- 49. Gejrot T, Moëll H, Morris C, Bauer G, Rydholm A. In: Engström C, editor. Nationalencyklopedin. Volume 14. Höganäs: Bokförlaget Bra Böcker AB; 1994. p 505-507.
- 50. Gerdhem P, Ivaska KK, Alatalo SL, Halleen JM, Hellman J, Isaksson A, Pettersson K, Vaananen HK, Akesson K, Obrant KJ. Biochemical markers of bone metabolism and prediction of fracture in elderly women. J Bone Miner Res 2004;19(3):386-93.

- 51. Giangregorio LM, McCartney N. Reduced loading due to spinal-cord injury at birth results in "slender" bones: a case study. Osteoporos Int 2007;18(1):117-20.
- 52. Gilsanz V. Bone density in children: a review of the available techniques and indications. Eur J Radiol 1998;26(2):177-82.
- 53. Gomez B, Jr., Ardakani S, Ju J, Jenkins D, Cerelli MJ, Daniloff GY, Kung VT. Monoclonal antibody assay for measuring bone-specific alkaline phosphatase activity in serum. Clin Chem 1995;41(11):1560-6.
- 54. Gordon CM, Bachrach LK, Carpenter TO, Crabtree N, El-Hajj Fuleihan G, Kutilek S, Lorenc RS, Tosi LL, Ward KA, Ward LM and others. Dual energy X-ray absorptiometry interpretation and reporting in children and adolescents: the 2007 ISCD Pediatric Official Positions. J Clin Densitom 2008;11(1):43-58.
- 55. Goulding A, Cannan R, Williams SM, Gold EJ, Taylor RW, Lewis-Barned NJ. Bone mineral density in girls with forearm fractures. J Bone Miner Res 1998;13(1):143-8.
- 56. Goulding A, Jones IE, Taylor RW, Williams SM, Manning PJ. Bone mineral density and body composition in boys with distal forearm fractures: a dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry study. J Pediatr 2001;139(4):509-15.
- 57. Goulding A, Jones IE, Williams SM, Grant AM, Taylor RW, Manning PJ, Langley J. First fracture is associated with increased risk of new fractures during growth. J Pediatr 2005;146(2):286-8.
- 58. Griggs RC, Forbes G, Moxley RT, Herr BE. The assessment of muscle mass in progressive neuromuscular disease. Neurology 1983;33(2):158-65.
- 59. Grimston SK, Silva MJ, Civitelli R. Bone loss after temporarily induced muscle paralysis by Botox is not fully recovered after 12 weeks. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2007;1116:444-60.
- 60. Gunter K, Baxter-Jones AD, Mirwald RL, Almstedt H, Fuchs RK, Durski S, Snow C. Impact exercise increases BMC during growth: an 8-year longitudinal study. J Bone Miner Res 2008;23(7):986-93.
- 61. Gunter K, Baxter-Jones AD, Mirwald RL, Almstedt H, Fuller A, Durski S, Snow C. Jump starting skeletal health: a 4-year longitudinal study assessing the effects of jumping on skeletal development in pre and circum pubertal children. Bone 2008;42(4):710-8.
- 62. Hakulinen MA, Saarakkala S, Toyras J, Kroger H, Jurvelin JS. Dual energy x-ray laser measurement of calcaneal bone mineral density. Phys Med Biol 2003;48(12):1741-52.

- 63. Hansson T, Roos B, Nachemson A. The bone mineral content and ultimate compressive strength of lumbar vertebrae. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 1980;5(1):46-55.
- 64. Harcke HT. Pediatric Bone Densitometry: Technical Issues. Seminars in Musculoskeletal Radiology 1999;3(4):371-378.
- 65. Hayes A, Lynch GS, Williams DA. The effects of endurance exercise on dystrophic mdx mice. I. Contractile and histochemical properties of intact muscles. Proc Biol Sci 1993;253(1336):19-25.
- 66. Heaney RP. Functional indices of vitamin D status and ramifications of vitamin D deficiency. Am J Clin Nutr 2004;80(6 Suppl):1706S-9S.
- 67. Heaney RP, Abrams S, Dawson-Hughes B, Looker A, Marcus R, Matkovic V, Weaver C. Peak bone mass. Osteoporos Int 2000;11(12):985-1009.
- 68. Henderson RC, Lark RK, Gurka MJ, Worley G, Fung EB, Conaway M, Stallings VA, Stevenson RD. Bone density and metabolism in children and adolescents with moderate to severe cerebral palsy. Pediatrics 2002;110(1 Pt 1):e5.
- 69. Hessle L, Johnson KA, Anderson HC, Narisawa S, Sali A, Goding JW, Terkeltaub R, Millan JL. Tissue-nonspecific alkaline phosphatase and plasma cell membrane glycoprotein-1 are central antagonistic regulators of bone mineralization. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2002;99(14):9445-9.
- 70. Hibbert ME, Lanigan A, Raven J, Phelan PD. Relation of armspan to height and the prediction of lung function. Thorax 1988;43(8):657-9.
- 71. Holick MF. Resurrection of vitamin D deficiency and rickets. J Clin Invest 2006;116(8):2062-72.
- 72. Houde S, Filiatrault M, Fournier A, Dube J, D'Arcy S, Berube D, Brousseau Y, Lapierre G, Vanasse M. Deflazacort use in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: an 8-year follow-up. Pediatr Neurol 2008;38(3):200-6.
- 73. Huiskes R, Ruimerman R, van Lenthe GH, Janssen JD. Effects of mechanical forces on maintenance and adaptation of form in trabecular bone. Nature 2000;405(6787):704-6.
- 74. Hyde SA, FlLytrup I, Glent S, Kroksmark AK, Salling B, Steffensen BF, Werlauff U, Erlandsen M. A randomized comparative study of two methods for controlling Tendo Achilles contracture in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Neuromuscul Disord 2000;10(4-5):257-63.
- Inaba M, Nakatsuka K, Imanishi Y, Watanabe M, Mamiya Y, Ishimura E, Nishizawa Y. Technical and clinical characterization of the Bio-PTH (1-84) immunochemiluminometric assay and comparison with a secondgeneration assay for parathyroid hormone. Clin Chem 2004;50(2):385-90.

- 76. Jennekens FGI, ten Kate LP, De Visser M, Wintzen AR. Duchenne and Beckermuscular dystrophies. In: Emery AE, editor. Diagnostic Criteria for Neuromuscular Disorders. Baarn, Netherlands: ENMC; 1994. p 9-13.
- 77. Johnell O, Kanis JA, Oden A, Johansson H, De Laet C, Delmas P, Eisman JA, Fujiwara S, Kroger H, Mellstrom D and others. Predictive value of BMD for hip and other fractures. J Bone Miner Res 2005;20(7):1185-94.
- 78. Jonson R, Mansson LG, Rundgren A, Szucs J. Dual-photon absorptiometry for determination of bone mineral content in the calcaneus with correction for fat. Phys Med Biol 1990;35(7):961-9.
- 79. Jost PD. Simulating human space physiology with bed rest. Hippokratia 2008;12 Suppl 1:37-40.
- Junqueira LC, Caneiro J. Bone. In: Junqueira LC, Caneiro J, editors. Basic Histology. 3 ed. Los Altos, California: Lange Medical Publications; 1980. p 130-151.
- 81. Kalkwarf HJ, Zemel BS, Gilsanz V, Lappe JM, Horlick M, Oberfield S, Mahboubi S, Fan B, Frederick MM, Winer K and others. The bone mineral density in childhood study: bone mineral content and density according to age, sex, and race. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2007;92(6):2087-99.
- 82. Kanis JA. Assessment of fracture risk and its application to screening for postmenopausal osteoporosis: synopsis of a WHO report. WHO Study Group. Osteoporos Int 1994;4(6):368-81.
- Kannus P, Niemi S, Parkkari J, Palvanen M, Vuori I, Jarvinen M. Nationwide decline in incidence of hip fracture. J Bone Miner Res 2006;21(12):1836-8.
- 84. Kelly HW, Van Natta ML, Covar RA, Tonascia J, Green RP, Strunk RC. Effect of long-term corticosteroid use on bone mineral density in children: a prospective longitudinal assessment in the childhood Asthma Management Program (CAMP) study. Pediatrics 2008;122(1):e53-61.
- King WM, Ruttencutter R, Nagaraja HN, Matkovic V, Landoll J, Hoyle C, Mendell JR, Kissel JT. Orthopedic outcomes of long-term daily corticosteroid treatment in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Neurology 2007;68(19):1607-13.
- 86. Knapp KM. Quantitative ultrasound and bone health. Salud Publica Mex 2009;51 Suppl 1:S18-24.
- 87. Landin LA. Fracture patterns in children. Analysis of 8,682 fractures with special reference to incidence, etiology and secular changes in a Swedish urban population 1950-1979. Acta Orthop Scand Suppl 1983;202:1-109.

- 88. Larson CM, Henderson RC. Bone mineral density and fractures in boys with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. J Pediatr Orthop 2000;20(1):71-4.
- 89. Linden C, Ahlborg HG, Besjakov J, Gardsell P, Karlsson MK. A school curriculum-based exercise program increases bone mineral accrual and bone size in prepubertal girls: two-year data from the pediatric osteoporosis prevention (POP) study. J Bone Miner Res 2006;21(6):829-35.
- Linden C, Alwis G, Ahlborg H, Gardsell P, Valdimarsson O, Stenevi-Lundgren S, Besjakov J, Karlsson MK. Exercise, bone mass and bone size in prepubertal boys: one-year data from the pediatric osteoporosis prevention study. Scand J Med Sci Sports 2007;17(4):340-7.
- Lips P, van Schoor NM, Bravenboer N. Vitamin D-Related Disorders. In: Rosen CJ, editor. Primer on the Metabolic Bone Diseases and Disorders of Mineral Metabolism. Seventh ed. Washington, D.C.: ASBMR; 2009. p 329-335.
- Lo Cascio V, Bonucci E, Imbimbo B, Ballanti P, Tartarotti D, Galvanini G, Fuccella L, Adami S. Bone loss after glucocorticoid therapy. Calcif Tissue Int 1984;36(4):435-8.
- 93. Löfman O. Epidemiologin för frakturer. Läkartidningen 2006:2956-2958.
- 94. Lofqvist C, Andersson E, Gelander L, Rosberg S, Blum WF, Albertsson Wikland K. Reference values for IGF-I throughout childhood and adolescence: a model that accounts simultaneously for the effect of gender, age, and puberty. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2001;86(12):5870-6.
- 95. Macdonald HM, Kontulainen SA, Khan KM, McKay HA. Is a schoolbased physical activity intervention effective for increasing tibial bone strength in boys and girls? J Bone Miner Res 2007;22(3):434-46.
- 96. MacKelvie KJ, McKay HA, Petit MA, Moran O, Khan KM. Bone mineral response to a 7-month randomized controlled, school-based jumping intervention in 121 prepubertal boys: associations with ethnicity and body mass index. J Bone Miner Res 2002;17(5):834-44.
- 97. Manzur AY, Kuntzer T, Pike M, Swan A. Glucocorticoid corticosteroids for Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2008(1):CD003725.
- 98. Martini G, Valenti R, Gennari L, Salvadori S, Galli B, Nuti R. Dual X-ray and laser absorptiometry of the calcaneus: comparison with quantitative ultrasound and dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry. J Clin Densitom 2004;7(3):349-54.

- Masters PW, Jones RG, Purves DA, Cooper EH, Cooney JM. Commercial assays for serum osteocalcin give clinically discordant results. Clin Chem 1994;40(3):358-63.
- McDonald DG, Kinali M, Gallagher AC, Mercuri E, Muntoni F, Roper H, Jardine P, Jones DH, Pike MG. Fracture prevalence in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Dev Med Child Neurol 2002;44(10):695-8.
- 101. McKay HA, MacLean L, Petit M, MacKelvie-O'Brien K, Janssen P, Beck T, Khan KM. "Bounce at the Bell": a novel program of short bouts of exercise improves proximal femur bone mass in early pubertal children. Br J Sports Med 2005;39(8):521-6.
- 102. Meier C, Nguyen TV, Center JR, Seibel MJ, Eisman JA. Bone resorption and osteoporotic fractures in elderly men: the dubbo osteoporosis epidemiology study. J Bone Miner Res 2005;20(4):579-87.
- Melkko J, Kauppila S, Niemi S, Risteli L, Haukipuro K, Jukkola A, Risteli J. Immunoassay for intact amino-terminal propeptide of human type I procollagen. Clin Chem 1996;42(6 Pt 1):947-54.
- 104. Moayyeri A, Kaptoge S, Dalzell N, Bingham S, Luben RN, Wareham NJ, Reeve J, Khaw KT. Is QUS or DXA better for predicting the 10-year absolute risk of fracture? J Bone Miner Res 2009;24(7):1319-25.
- 105. Molgaard C, Thomsen BL, Michaelsen KF. Whole body bone mineral accretion in healthy children and adolescents. Arch Dis Child 1999;81(1):10-5.
- Molgaard C, Thomsen BL, Prentice A, Cole TJ, Michaelsen KF. Whole body bone mineral content in healthy children and adolescents. Arch Dis Child 1997;76(1):9-15.
- 107. Nagel BH, Mortier W, Elmlinger M, Wollmann HA, Schmitt K, Ranke MB. Short stature in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: a study of 34 patients. Acta Paediatr 1999;88(1):62-5.
- 108. Neu CM, Rauch F, Manz F, Schoenau E. Modeling of cross-sectional bone size, mass and geometry at the proximal radius: a study of normal bone development using peripheral quantitative computed tomography. Osteoporos Int 2001;12(7):538-47.
- 109. Neuman WF. Calcium metabolism in space flight. Life Sci Space Res 1970;8:309-15.
- 110. Nigro G, Comi LI, Limongelli FM, Giugliano MA, Politano L, Petretta V, Passamano L, Stefanelli S. Prospective study of X-linked progressive muscular dystrophy in Campania. Muscle Nerve 1983;6(4):253-62.

- 111. Nilsson A, Ohlsson C, Isaksson OG, Lindahl A, Isgaard J. Hormonal regulation of longitudinal bone growth. Eur J Clin Nutr 1994;48 Suppl 1:S150-8; discussion S158-60.
- 112. Nilsson BE. Post-traumatic osteopenia. A quantitative study of the bone mineral mass in the femur following fracture of the tibia in man using americium-241 as a photon source. Acta Orthop Scand 1966;37:Suppl 91:1-55.
- 113. Nilsson M, Ohlsson C, Mellstrom D, Lorentzon M. Previous sport activity during childhood and adolescence is associated with increased cortical bone size in young adult men. J Bone Miner Res 2009;24(1):125-33.
- Nordstrom A, Karlsson C, Nyquist F, Olsson T, Nordstrom P, Karlsson M. Bone loss and fracture risk after reduced physical activity. J Bone Miner Res 2005;20(2):202-7.
- 115. Ohlsson C, Bengtsson BA, Isaksson OG, Andreassen TT, Slootweg MC. Growth hormone and bone. Endocr Rev 1998;19(1):55-79.
- 116. Parfitt AM. Targeted and nontargeted bone remodeling: relationship to basic multicellular unit origination and progression. Bone 2002;30(1):5-7.
- 117. Petrof BJ. The molecular basis of activity-induced muscle injury in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Mol Cell Biochem 1998;179(1-2):111-23.
- 118. Prader A. Testicular size: assessment and clinical importance. Triangle 1966;7(6):240-3.
- 119. Pye SR, Tobias J, Silman AJ, Reeve J, O'Neill TW. Childhood fractures do not predict future fractures: results from the European Prospective Osteoporosis Study. J Bone Miner Res 2009;24(7):1314-8.
- 120. Quan A, Adams R, Ekmark E, Baum M. Bone mineral density in children with myelomeningocele. Pediatrics 1998;102(3):E34.
- 121. Rauch F, Bailey DA, Baxter-Jones A, Mirwald R, Faulkner R. The 'muscle-bone unit' during the pubertal growth spurt. Bone 2004;34(5):771-5.
- 122. Rauch F, Neu C, Manz F, Schoenau E. The development of metaphyseal cortex--implications for distal radius fractures during growth. J Bone Miner Res 2001;16(8):1547-55.
- 123. Rauch F, Plotkin H, DiMeglio L, Engelbert RH, Henderson RC, Munns C, Wenkert D, Zeitler P. Fracture prediction and the definition of osteoporosis in children and adolescents: the ISCD 2007 Pediatric Official Positions. J Clin Densitom 2008;11(1):22-8.
- 124. Rauchenzauner M, Schmid A, Heinz-Erian P, Kapelari K, Falkensammer G, Griesmacher A, Finkenstedt G, Hogler W. Sex- and age-specific

reference curves for serum markers of bone turnover in healthy children from 2 months to 18 years. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2007;92(2):443-9.

- 125. Rissanen JP, Suominen MI, Peng Z, Halleen JM. Secreted tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase 5b is a Marker of osteoclast number in human osteoclast cultures and the rat ovariectomy model. Calcif Tissue Int 2008;82(2):108-15.
- 126. Rittweger J, Beller G, Ehrig J, Jung C, Koch U, Ramolla J, Schmidt F, Newitt D, Majumdar S, Schiessl H and others. Bone-muscle strength indices for the human lower leg. Bone 2000;27(2):319-26.
- Rittweger J, Felsenberg D. Recovery of muscle atrophy and bone loss from 90 days bed rest: results from a one-year follow-up. Bone 2009;44(2):214-24.
- 128. Rittweger J, Simunic B, Bilancio G, De Santo NG, Cirillo M, Biolo G, Pisot R, Eiken O, Mekjavic IB, Narici M. Bone loss in the lower leg during 35 days of bed rest is predominantly from the cortical compartment. Bone 2009;44(4):612-8.
- 129. Robey PG, Boskey AL. The Composition of Bone. In: Rosen CJ, editor. Primer on the Metabolic Bone Diseases and Disorders of Mineral Metabolism. 7 ed. Washington, D. C.: ASBMR; 2008. p 32-38.
- 130. Saadi H, Reed R, Carter A, Al-Suhaili A. Correlation of quantitative ultrasound parameters of the calcaneus with bone density of the spine and hip in women with prevalent hypovitaminosis D. J Clin Densitom 2004;7(3):313-8.
- 131. Salminen H, Saaf M, Ringertz H, Strender LE. Bone mineral density measurement in the calcaneus with DXL: comparison with hip and spine measurements in a cross-sectional study of an elderly female population. Osteoporos Int 2005;16(5):541-51.
- 132. Sandström B, Aro A, Becker W, Lyhne N, Pedersen J, Thorsdottir I. Nordic Nutrition Recommendations 1996. Nordic Council of Ministers, Copenhagen, Denmark; 1996. p 13-23.
- 133. Sassi ML, Eriksen H, Risteli L, Niemi S, Mansell J, Gowen M, Risteli J. Immunochemical characterization of assay for carboxyterminal telopeptide of human type I collagen: loss of antigenicity by treatment with cathepsin K. Bone 2000;26(4):367-73.
- 134. Savoca R, Bock A, Kraenzlin ME, Schmid HR, Huber AR. An automated 'bio-intact' PTH assay: a step towards standardisation and improved correlation with parathyroid function in renal disease. Clin Chim Acta 2004;343(1-2):167-71.

- 135. Sawyer AJ, Bachrach LK. Rationale for Bone Densitometry in Childhood and Adolescence. In: Sawyer AJ, Bachrach LK, Fung EB, editors. Bone Densitometry in Growing Patients, Guidelines for Clinical Practice. Totowa, New Jersey, USA: Humana Press; 2007, p1-13.
- 136. Schapira D, Schapira C. Osteoporosis: the evolution of a scientific term. Osteoporos Int 1992;2(4):164-7.
- Schara U, Mortier, Mortier W. Long-Term Steroid Therapy in Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy-Positive Results versus Side Effects. J Clin Neuromuscul Dis 2001;2(4):179-83.
- 138. Schoenau E, Neu CM, Beck B, Manz F, Rauch F. Bone mineral content per muscle cross-sectional area as an index of the functional muscle-bone unit. J Bone Miner Res 2002;17(6):1095-101.
- 139. Schonau E. Problems of bone analysis in childhood and adolescence. Pediatr Nephrol 1998;12(5):420-9.
- 140. Schönau E, Rauch F. Biochemical Markers of Bone Metabolism. In: Glorieux FH, editor. Pediatric Bone Biology and Disease. San Diego, California: Academic Press; 2003. p 339-357.
- 141. Schweizer R, Martin DD, Schonau E, Ranke MB. Muscle function improves during growth hormone therapy in short children born small for gestational age: results of a peripheral quantitative computed tomography study on body composition. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2008;93(8):2978-83.
- 142. Scott OM, Hyde SA, Goddard C, Dubowitz V. Quantitation of muscle function in children: a prospective study in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Muscle Nerve 1982;5(4):291-301.
- 143. Shapiro F. Developmental Bone Biology. Pediatric Orthopedic Deformities; Basic Science, Diagnosis, and Treatment. San Diego, California, USA: Academic Press; 2001. p 3-119.
- 144. Specker BL, Johannsen N, Binkley T, Finn K. Total body bone mineral content and tibial cortical bone measures in preschool children. J Bone Miner Res 2001;16(12):2298-305.
- 145. Sundberg M, Gardsell P, Johnell O, Ornstein E, Sernbo I. Comparison of quantitative ultrasound measurements in calcaneus with DXA and SXA at other skeletal sites: a population-based study on 280 children aged 11-16 years. Osteoporos Int 1998;8(5):410-7.
- 146. Surburg PR, Suomi R, Poppy WK. Validity and reliability of a hand-held dynamometer applied to adults with mental retardation. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 1992;73(6):535-9.

- 147. Swolin-Eide D, Hansson S, Larsson L, Magnusson P. The novel bone alkaline phosphatase B1x isoform in children with kidney disease. Pediatr Nephrol 2006;21(11):1723-9.
- 148. Swolin D, Brantsing C, Matejka G, Ohlsson C. Cortisol decreases IGF-I mRNA levels in human osteoblast-like cells. J Endocrinol 1996;149(3):397-403.
- 149. Tanner JM, Whitehouse RH, Hughes PC, Carter BS. Relative importance of growth hormone and sex steroids for the growth at puberty of trunk length, limb length, and muscle width in growth hormone-deficient children. J Pediatr 1976;89(6):1000-8.
- 150. Ton FN, Gunawardene SC, Lee H, Neer RM. Effects of low-dose prednisone on bone metabolism. J Bone Miner Res 2005;20(3):464-70.
- Trebacz H, Dmowska M, Baj J. Age-dependent effect of limb immobilization and remobilization on rat bone. Folia Biol (Krakow) 2002;50(3-4):121-7.
- 152. Trollet C, Athanasopoulos T, Popplewell L, Malerba A, Dickson G. Gene therapy for muscular dystrophy: current progress and future prospects. Expert Opin Biol Ther 2009;9(7):849-66.
- 153. van der Sluis IM, de Ridder MA, Boot AM, Krenning EP, de Muinck Keizer-Schrama SM. Reference data for bone density and body composition measured with dual energy x ray absorptiometry in white children and young adults. Arch Dis Child 2002;87(4):341-7; discussion 341-7.
- 154. van Staa TP, Cooper C, Leufkens HG, Bishop N. Children and the risk of fractures caused by oral corticosteroids. J Bone Miner Res 2003;18(5):913-8.
- 155. van Staa TP, Leufkens HG, Abenhaim L, Zhang B, Cooper C. Oral corticosteroids and fracture risk: relationship to daily and cumulative doses. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2000;39(12):1383-9.
- 156. Vestergaard P, Glerup H, Steffensen BF, Rejnmark L, Rahbek J, Moseklide L. Fracture risk in patients with muscular dystrophy and spinal muscular atrophy. J Rehabil Med 2001;33(4):150-5.
- 157. Vignos PJ, Jr., Spencer GE, Jr., Archibald KC. Management of progressive muscular dystrophy in childhood. Jama 1963;184:89-96.
- 158. Wang Q, Alen M, Nicholson PH, Halleen JM, Alatalo SL, Ohlsson C, Suominen H, Cheng S. Differential effects of sex hormones on peri- and endocortical bone surfaces in pubertal girls. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2006;91(1):277-82.

- 159. Ward KA, Mughal MZ, Adams JE. Tools for Measuring Bone in Children and Adolescents. In: Sawyer AJ, Bachrach LK, Fung EB, editors. Bone Densitometry in Growing Patients, Guidelines for Clinical Practice, Totowa, New Jersey, USA: Humana Press; 2007. p 15-40.
- Ward KA, Roberts SA, Adams JE, Mughal MZ. Bone geometry and density in the skeleton of pre-pubertal gymnasts and school children. Bone 2005;36(6):1012-8.
- 161. Wikland KA, Luo ZC, Niklasson A, Karlberg J. Swedish population-based longitudinal reference values from birth to 18 years of age for height, weight and head circumference. Acta Paediatr 2002;91(7):739-54.
- 162. Wren TA, Yerby SA, Beaupre GS, Carter DR. Interpretation of calcaneus dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry measurements in the assessment of osteopenia and fracture risk. J Bone Miner Res 2000;15(8):1573-8.
- 163. Yang Y. Skeletal morphogenisis and Embryonic Development. In: Rosen CJ, editor. Primer on the Metabolic Bone Diseases and Disorders of Mineral Metabolism. 7 ed. Washinton, D. C.: ASBMR; 2008. p 2-10.
- Zanchetta JR, Plotkin H, Alvarez Filgueira ML. Bone mass in children: normative values for the 2-20-year-old population. Bone 1995;16(4 Suppl):393S-399S.
- 165. Zemel BS, Petit M. Evaluation. In: Sawyer AJ, Bachrach LK, Fung EB, editors. Bone Densitometry in Growing Patients, Guidelines for Clinical Practice. Totowa, New Jersey, USA: Humana Press; 2007. p 115-125.
- 166. Zubrzycka-Gaarn EE, Bulman DE, Karpati G, Burghes AH, Belfall B, Klamut HJ, Talbot J, Hodges RS, Ray PN, Worton RG. The Duchenne muscular dystrophy gene product is localized in sarcolemma of human skeletal muscle. Nature 1988;333(6172):466-9.